
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 15 November 2017 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda 
is proposed to be transacted.

S Kilkie
Assistant Director (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Audit & Counter Fraud Update - Q2 2017-18 (Pages 11 - 34)

6. Treasury Management 2017-18 - Mid-Year Review (Pages 35 - 54)

7. Corporate Risk Register 2017-18 - Mid-Year Review (Pages 55 - 70)

8. Quarter Two Budget Monitoring Report 2017-18 - to end September 2017 (Pages 71 - 
102)

9. Annual Audit Letter 2017-18 (Pages 103 - 
114)

Public Document Pack



10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

11.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Part B
Items likely to be considered in private

Members

Cllr Derek Shelbrooke (Chair)
Cllr Karen Hurdle (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Lesley Boycott
John Burden
Colin Caller
William Lambert
Peter Rayner
Lenny Rolles
Robin Theobald

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee 

Tuesday, 12 September 2017                               7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr Derek Shelbrooke (Chair)
Cllr Karen Hurdle (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: John Knight 
John Burden
William Lambert
Lesley Boycott
Colin Caller
Lenny Rolles
Peter Rayner 

David Hughes Chief Executive 
Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services) 
Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Anita Tysoe Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) 
James Larkin Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services Manager 
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant (General Fund)
Alexandra Jarvis Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)
Darren Wells External Auditor, Grant Thornton 
Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

16. Apologies 

No apologies of absence were received.  

The Chair welcomed Amanda Lukey, the Deputy Principal Accountant to the meeting. 

17. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on the Tuesday 10 July 2017 were signed by the Chair. 

18. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.  

19. Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) provided the Finance & Audit 
Committee with a copy of the Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter for 
Gravesham. 

The Chief Executive informed the Committee the Letter is received annually and provides 
statistics that are associated with referrals to the Ombudsman office; the office found three 
faults in cases but it is a slightly more unusual situation here in the fact that the Chief 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 12.09.2017

2

Executive felt the actions of the Ombudsman were unwarranted due to Gravesham already 
concluding that they were at fault and providing an appropriate remedy to the problem. 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) added that she is awaiting a response 
for the Ombudsman Office  regarding the decisions made as at the moment they indicate the 
three complaints were upheld but they do not recognize that the Council had already settled 
two of them before their involvement. 

The Chief Executive summarised one of the cases to Member’s: 

 Part of the initial problem was that when the complainant raised the issue they were 
complaining about the works that were being carried out with the planning permission 
granted by the Regulatory Board 

 The Regulatory Boards mind-set was that the reasons for the objections put forward 
by the complainant were more to deal with civil ownership matters than planning and 
should be dealt with through the Party Wall Act 

 The complainants escalated the complaint to Stage 2 and added further issues to the 
initial complaint; these were addressed and it was reiterated to them that a number of 
the issues were civil matters not planning ones 

 They were still not happy and progressed it to stage 3 at which point it landed on the 
Chief Executives desk and was investigated personally with great detail; it should be 
noted that several more issues were added to the complaint at that stage 

 They introduced an allegation that two Councillors on the Regulatory Board had a 
very close relationship with the developer in question but the two Councillors were 
met with and they gave assurances that there was no truth to it and no evidence was 
found that backed up the allegations  

 Again, no fault could be found with the planning permission having been granted and 
the development moving forward so that was communicated back to the 
complainants while also advising if they still weren’t happy they could progress it to 
the Ombudsman office, which they did  

 The Ombudsman decided after the initial process that there would be an 
investigation; an investigator was appointed and he decided on the basis of the fact 
that the complainants had made a reference back to 2008 in which planning 
permission was first approved that the investigation would start there 

 After looking through everything in detail the Ombudsman found out that the 
complainants had made an objection back in 2008 but could not see their objections 
as having been taken into consideration within the Planning Officers reasons for 
granting permission to the original application 

 The Ombudsman concluded that those objections had not been given due 
consideration; the Officer in question is still working for the Council and when 
questioned advised that he did consider all the objections that were received but did 
not feel the need to put it on the reasons; it should be noted that the reasons for 
decisions is now filled out much more stringently than 10 years ago 

 It was most likely an error of the investigator to apply contemporary standards  to 
something which occurred nearly ten years ago 

 The complaints ignored advice to go through the Party Wall Act again and went 
through litigation with the developer which GBC were not party to as that was a 
separate dispute 

 The complainants also had a problem with the contracted complaints process but this 
was down to other duties taking more time for the Chief Executive 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 12.09.2017

3

 The end result was that GBC were ordered to pay a £300 compensation fine and 
send a written apology which is a very minor consequence showing that the 
seriousness of the complaint was very minimal 

The Chief Executive added in his own opinion that the fine was minor in part due to the 
investigator making a mistake; the Ombudsman is supposed to release the draft findings of 
the investigation to the complainants and the authority in question at the same time. 
However it emerged from an email to the complainant that they acquired the draft findings 
first as well as spoke about the draft findings with the Ombudsman prior to GBC even 
receiving them. 

Following Members question the Chief Executive explained that: 

 Some of the more serious offences can drive up the cost of compensation into the 
tens of thousands 

 GBC has a published complaints procedure that comprises of three stages of which 
the complaint progresses through it if it is not dealt with in the first instance: 

- Stage 1 – A complaint is made and is dealt with by the manager of the service 
- Stage 2 – The complaint is then escalated to the Director of the service 
- Stage 3 – The complaint is brought finally to the desk of the Chief Executive 

The Chair thanked the Chief Executive for the informative update and shared the sentiment 
of the Committee that the £300 compensation fee was a very minor consequence and there 
was some fault with the Ombudsman’s handling of the case.  

20. The Audit Findings for Gravesham Borough Council - Year ended 31 
March 2017 

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton informed Members of the findings from the audit of the 
council’s financial statements and arrangements for securing Value for Money for the year 
ended 31 March 2017.

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton outlined the following points to the Committee: 

 The Audit is substantially complete with only a few final elements to conclude which 
could not be done until the report had been seen at this F&A Committee meeting 

 The draft accounts presented for audit were of good quality with the level of 
amendments to them being minor 

 It is anticipated that an unqualified opinion will be provided in respect of the financial 
statements of the Council for the year 2016/17, alongside a positive Value for Money 
Conclusion. 

Resolved that: 

 Members noted the information contained within the report. 

21. Statutory Statement of Accounts 2016/17 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) provided Members with the audited Statement 
of Accounts 2016/17. 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 12.09.2017

4

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that: 

 The changes made to the accounts as referenced in the previous agenda item had 
been actioned and listed at Appendix 2 to the report allowing Members to view the 
changes 

 Appendix 3 is the final Statement of Accounts 
 Appendix 4 is the letter of representation.  If the Committee are happy with the 

content of the letter of representation and the final audited Statement of Accounts 
then the Chair will sign the letter of representation at the closure of the meeting 

Resolved that Members approved: 

 The amended Statement of Accounts for 2016/17 as attached at Appendix Three 

 The letter of representation at appendix four to the report for signing by the Chair of 
the Finance & Audit Committee

22. Budget Monitoring Report - Q1 2017/18 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) provided Members with information on actual 
performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2017/18, including 
known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity as well as updating 
Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or 
Financial Statements. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) and the Principal Accountant (Housing & 
Exchequer) elaborated further on their respective fields outlined in the executive summary. 
Key points from the report were outlined to Members as follows: 

 At the end of Quarter One there is projected underspend on the General Fund for the 
year of £183,730 

 The most significant variance in the quarter was the acquisition of St John’s House 
which is the Council’s third property purchase under the Commercial Property 
Acquisition Strategy with an anticipated annual income of £160K

 Other variances of note relate to business rates and the associated Section 31 
Grants with a £140K variance for the Section 31 Grants and a £70K adverse 
variance for Business Rates Income 

 As a result of effective management of vacant posts combined with natural staff 
movement around £129K of staffing savings were generated in quarter one 

 Total Working Balances brought forward from 2016/17 is £6,162,550 with the 
Forecast Usable Working Balances Carry Forward at the end of the year (as 
projected at 30 June 2017) at £3,083,380 

 The General Fund Capital Programme for the year is budgeted at £16.1m, with 
spend to the end of quarter one of 0.5m. The budget includes a further £10m 
allocated to a second tranche of commercial property acquisitions as agreed by Full 
Council in June.    

 The report includes a new section on Capital Resources that outlines the resources 
available to fund capitals projects in the future. The balance of total General Fund 
Capital Resources projected at year-end is £1,7m. 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 12.09.2017

5

 At the end of Quarter 1, income and expenditure  for the year remains balanced 
within the Housing Revenue Account 

 The PV Panels were anticipated to be sold by August but the sale has not gone
through yet; an updated projection of the effect of this sale on FIT income expected 
in 2017-18 will be provided for Quarter 2 

 The leftover funds from the grant from Kent Fire & Rescue Service towards 
expenditure relating to the replacement of a sprinkler system at Carl Ekman House 
has been rolled forward into this financial year to cover the cost of the capital works 

 The staffing budget for 2017/18 incorporates a target of £100K and for the first three 
months to June 2017 the actual vacancy saving achieved was £91K 

 Working balances on the HRA at year end are projected to remain at £3m.
 Spend to the end of quarter one on the Housing Capital Programme was £3.6m.
 The council has had recent communication from Property Funds Managers in 

response to the Grenfell Fire providing assurances of their arrangements for ensuring 
fire safety in their portfolio.  This information will be shared with the committee 
outside of the meeting. Kent Fire & Rescue Service have assured GBC that none of 
its five ‘tower blocks’ have the same cladding and all are subject to regular Fire Risk 
Assessments. 

 
 Following Members question and comments the three finance officers explained that: 

 Information will be sought from colleagues in Housing as to why it took so long for the 
funds from Kent Fire & Rescue Service to be used at the Hive. 

 The Fleet Leisure site is covered by insurance but it is for debris removal only.  This 
would provide cover for clearing the site, removing debris and any demolition that 
was required to clear the site. GBC are currently seeking quotes from three 
demolition companies to satisfy the insurer; comments regarding the method adopted 
to infill the basement area of the site from Members will be relayed to the Property 
Services Team 

 With regard to Shared Services arrangements, the optimum location and employing 
authority for each shared service arrangement will be determined on a case by case 
basis.  In recent cases, staff have been TUPE transferred due to it being the best 
option for future delivery of the service. 

 As part of the budget there used to be 50k capital allocation to the Young Persons 
and Older Persons Champions, but the amount has been reduced to a revenue 
amount of 15k for each annually from 2017-18. 

 
23. Audit & Counter Fraud Update 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services Manager provided Members with an update on 
the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 April 
2017 to 31 July 2017.

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services Manager gave a brief overview of the report: 

 Section Three shows a reduction in audit days with reasons outlined in the report; the 
period of time for the report is shorter, two employees are on long term sick leave 
with another officer resigning soon, extra resources will be needed but they will be 
funded through salary savings from vacant posts 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 12.09.2017

6

 All of the fieldwork for audits carried forward from last year has now been completed 
and the last audit has been finalised since the report was issued.  Work on the 
2017/18 plan is underway. 

 The counter fraud software currently in use has been upgraded and due to technical 
issues the figures for the number of fraud cases opened and closed are not included 
in the report. The link between the fraud system and the reporting system is being 
fixed and figures should be available for the next update. 

 The entire service is proportional with both Gravesham and Medway so both 
authorities have seen a reduction in their productive resources.

Resolved that: 

 The outputs and performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham for 
the period 1 April 2017 to 31 July 2017 as detailed at Appendix two be noted 

24. Update on appointment of External Auditors from 2018/19 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) updated Members on progress in the 
appointment of a local auditor, effective for the audit of the accounts for 2018/19.

 It was agreed at Full Council to opt for the sector led approach that was offered by 
the appointment body PSAA.  98% of all eligible local authorities took up the offer for 
that approach 

 The PSAA went out to tender and the procurement process has been hailed as 
highly successful, delivering an expected reduction of approximately 18% in the scale 
of fees payable by local bodies 

 The PSAA’s intention is to appoint Grant Thornton as the council’s external audit 
provider from 2018/19; the council will need to formally respond to the PSAA to 
confirm acceptance of the appointment unless it wishes to make representations 
against the appointment on the grounds of there being conflicts of interest or 
experience of poor service, of which there are not considered to be any. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) answered a Members question: 

 Should the council accept the offer of appointment, the appointment would be 
formally made by the PSAA in December, following which the council would seek to 
engage with Grant Thornton in planning the audit process for 2018-19. 

Members agreed with officers in that Grant Thornton had carried out an exceptional job of 
external auditors in their time working with Gravesham and the appointment from PSAA was 
very welcome. 

Resolved that:

 Members endorsed the appointment by PSAA of Grant Thornton (UK) LLP as the 
auditor for Gravesham Borough Council for a five year period from 1 April 2018. 

25. Terms of Reference - Statement of Accounts Glossary of Terms Review 

Page 8



Finance and Audit Committee 12.09.2017

7

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) presented Members with the proposed Terms of 
Reference for the Member-led Statement of Accounts Glossary review

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) noted the error at the end of the report for ‘Key 
References for the Corporate Debt Working Group’ and would amend accordingly. 

Cllr John Burden advised that he agreed the terms of reference and appointed Cllr Peter 
Rayner and Cllr Colin Caller to the cross party working group. 

The Chair advised that he agreed the terms of reference and appointed Cllr Karen Hurdle as 
the Chair and Cllr Robin Theobald as the Vice-Chair of the cross party working group. 

Resolved that: 

 The Terms of Reference for the Member-led Statement of Accounts Glossary Review 
be agreed 

 
 The nominations put forward by the Committee as follows: 

- Cllr Karen Hurdle (Chair) (Conservative) 
- Cllr Robin Theobald (Vice-Chair) (Conservative) 
- Cllr Peter Rayner (Labour) 
- Cllr Colin Caller (Labour) 

26. Alternative Treasury Management Investment Option 

The Director (Corporate Services) informed Members of the findings of initial investigations 
into alternative treasury management investment options, in particular the use of Diversified 
Income Funds. The report presented a proposal to progress the use of Diversified Income 
Funds as an alternative investment option for the council, subject to further due diligence 
work by officers. 

The Director (Corporate Services) apologised for the lateness of the report being released 
but informed the committee that the Chair, Vice-Chair and Cllr John Burden had been 
briefed on the matter ahead of the meeting. 
The Director (Corporate Services) outlined the following key points: 

 On 27 June 2017, Full Council agreed to the Property Acquisition Scheme being 
extended by recommendation of the Finance & Audit Committee and a further £10m 
from the investment balances was made available to the scheme 

 Since securing the money it has become clear that the commercial property market is 
in a very different position than it was twelve months ago; there have been fewer 
properties put up for sale and those that have been are more fiercely bid upon by 
other parties. 

 Three potential acquisitions are being pursued at this moment in time; no bids have 
been made and none have been considered by the Property Acquisition sub group 
yet 

 Whilst the council is waiting to make these acquisitions, the funds can be invested 
into more fluid investments types which will achieve a higher return than traditional 
investments with banks and building societies and allow for increased 
manoeuvrability of the funds 

Page 9



Finance and Audit Committee 12.09.2017

8

The Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer) advised that GBC are now looking at 
diversified income funds run by external fund managers which start off with traditional 
investments in property and equity but also branch out to more unusual assets such as toll 
roads, surgeries, student accommodation etc. The range of assets provides a wide spread of 
risk and more liquid funds which means GBC can disinvest in a shorter period of time. The 
council’s cashflow model has been updated which indicates that the council’s cashflow 
position will permit placing funds in these alternative investment vehicles in the short to 
medium term.

The council will be engaging with its treasury advisors, Capita Asset Services, to seek their 
advice on potential investment opportunities. 

It was proffered by a Member that he supported the proposal but there shouldn’t be a 
restriction against particular investments funds; there are high returns on areas such as 
military and tobacco investment and GBC should not be overly concerned with who their 
investments also invest their money in.  However other Members of the Committee felt that 
any unethical investment should be avoided by the Council and if found out to be later on in 
an investment, GBC should pull out immediately. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that he would pass the information along to the 
sub-group to ensure that possible investments are investigated thoroughly to see how they 
would invest GBC’s money and cited that at this time GBC are approaching £2 million 
income per annum from investments. 

Resolved that Members: 

- Endorse the work to investigate alternative investment options and support 
further due diligence by officers on Diversified Income Funds 

 
- Recommend to Full Council that the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

(TMSS) for 2017-18 is amended to include the use of Diversified Income Funds in 
the list of non-specified investments at Appendix 1 of the TMSS 

- Recommend to Full Council that once the Director (Corporate Services) is 
satisfied that due diligence on Fund suitability has been undertaken, £10 million 
of treasury balances are placed in Diversified Income Funds, with a maximum of 
£5 million placed into each Fund at the time of deposit 

 
- Recommend to Full Council that the Diversified Income Fund governance 

arrangements mirror those for Property Funds, in that the use of Diversified 
Income Funds be considered by the Property Acquisitions Cross Party Working 
Group, enabling Members to be actively involved in the selection process and 
provide advice to officers. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9:05pm. 

Page 10



Classification: Part A
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 15 November 2017

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Audit & Counter Fraud Manager

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Update 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 August 2017 to 30 September 2017. 

Recommendations:
Members note the outputs and performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for 
Gravesham for the period 1 August 2017 to 30 September 2017 as detailed at Appendix two.

Members approve the amendments to the 2017-18 workplan as detailed in section 6 of the 
report at Appendix two. 

1. Background

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on 
the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility and performance 
relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the board.

2. Update report 

2.1 As previously agreed with Members, the Audit & Counter Fraud Team will provide 
three update reports throughout the year in addition to the annual report issued in 
June each year. This is the second update report for 2017-18 and provides details 
of the progress made against the scheduled work plan.

2.2 As mentioned in the last update, the figures for performance indicators A&CF15 
and A&CF16 are not available as links between the fraud management software 
and reporting software were impacted by an upgrade to the fraud management 
software. Unfortunately this has not yet been resolved but IT are investigating the 
issue in order to find a solution.

2.3 The report details requested amendments to the 2017-18 workplan and approval 
is sought from Members to confirm those changes.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil 

Page 12



3

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for 
establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has delegated 
this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal 
audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government Application 
Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources in 
delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have an 
adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a key 
source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal 
control arrangements.  

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality Impact 
Assessment

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community?

No No impact

b. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper make 
a positive contribution to 
promoting equality?

No No impact

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above?

N/A

4.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have given 
due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above

Page 13



Corporate Business 
Plan

The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators (PI141) and is therefore reported to the public via the 
council’s Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/a

Page 14



Page 1 of 19

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update 

Gravesham Borough Council
For the period:

1 August 2017 – 30 September 2017

Page 15



1. Introduction
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was 

established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive 
counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both 
authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of 
Benefits Fraud.  

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must 
report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or 
requested by senior management and the board.

2. Independence
2.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 

2017 and sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement.  The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members. 

2.2. Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis. 

3. Resources
3.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council 

and Gravesham Borough Council.  The team has an establishment of 14 officers (13.4FTE) consisting of 
the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud (post currently vacant),  the Audit & Counter Fraud Manager, two 
Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, nine Audit & Counter Fraud Officers (one post currently vacant) 
and one Audit & Counter Fraud Assistant.  All members of the team started in these posts with the 
launch of the shared service on 1 March 2016. 

3.2. The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 36% for Gravesham with the remaining 64% for Medway.   At the time the Audit 
& Counter Fraud Plans for 2017-18 were prepared, this establishment was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,646 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.)  The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 625 days. 

3.3. Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 August 2017 to 30 September 2017 amounted to 
109 days and 97.5 days (90%) were spent on productive audit and counter fraud work. Of this 
productive time, 69% was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 31% was spent on 
counter fraud and investigations work.  The current status and results of all work carried out are 
detailed at section 4 of this report.  

Page 16



3.4. As mentioned in the first update report of 2017-18, long term sickness within the team has created a 
significant gap in resources, which will need to be partially filled by agency staff. The costs of employing 
any additional officers will be met from salary savings created by the current and pending vacancies 
within the team.  

4. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work 
4.1. The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2017-18 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 

Committee in March 2017. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham 
during the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy services. 

4.2. The tables below provide details of the work from 2016-17 that has been finalised during the reporting 
period, the progress of work undertaken as part of the 2017-18 annual plan during the period and the 
results of investigative work completed.  In response to a request from Members of the Finance & Audit 
Committee, this report provides additional information for each review reflecting the number of days 
allocated to each review and the number of days actually spent on the review once finalised. 

Page 17



Page 4 of 19

2016-17 Internal Audit Assurance work completed in 2017-18 since the last Audit Committee meeting 

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

10 Transformation – 
change & project 
management

20 15 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Appropriate arrangements have been put into place to ensure the delivery 
of the council’s Transformation programme.
The review found that the council has appointed a Corporate Change Manager and 
has a clear strategy for delivering transformational change in the form of the Change 
Strategy 2016-19, approved by Cabinet in March 2016, which outlines how the council 
will review and, where necessary, change the way it delivers its services to residents 
and businesses in the borough in order to make savings through financial efficiencies.

All change projects to date have been appropriately approved and supported by a 
Project Manager and Project Group, though there is a need to standardise procedures 
to ensure that all relevant arrangements are in place from the outset of the project, 
including involvement of the Corporate Change Manager and communication to staff.  

Arrangements exist for appropriate financing to be sought for all change projects, 
however improvements are needed in relation to performance management 
arrangements to ensure that the success of change projects can be effectively 
measured. Two post-implementation reviews have been undertaken for change 
projects to date and lessons learned have been identified and incorporated into 
future projects. 

The implementation of recommendations resulting from the work of the Service 
Review Team is being led by the Service Review Team, with a number of reports to 
the council’s Cabinet outlining the findings of the reviews and potential options. 
Monitoring of the implementation of the agreed options is being undertaken by 
Cabinet on a six monthly basis, with the first report being discussed at the meeting on 
03 July 2017. 

The work of the Digital Team will be reviewed separately as part of the 2017/18 Audit 
& Counter Fraud Plan. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high priority, two medium 
priority and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a change project initiation 
document, appointment of Project Managers / Groups at the point of project 
approval, the establishing of performance indicators to monitor the success of 

P
age 18



Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

change projects, the timely communication of projects that affect large numbers of 
employees, corporate monitoring of the programme of change projects as a whole 
and the introduction of training / guidance for change project managers.

2017-18 Internal Audit Assurance work (items in italics reported to a previous meeting)

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Finalisation of 2016-

17 planned work
8 30.3 Complete All 2016-17 planned work has been completed. 

2 Performance 
Management 

10 3.1 Complete A&CF Officers have worked with the Corporate Performance team to verify the 2016-
17 corporate performance information reported. 

3 Corporate 
Governance 

10 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control

The review provides independent assurance that Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Annual Governance Statement provides a fair representation of the authority’s 
governance arrangements.

4 IT Security – User 
Access Control

15 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Access to the council’s network is secure.

5 Payroll 15 N/A Draft report 
with client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The management of the payroll service contract between GBC and Medway 
council is complete and effective.

6 Building Security 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

7 Risk Management 
Framework

10 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The council has installed an appropriate risk management framework 
within the organisation.

8 Creditors 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

9 Housing Benefit 15 N/A Fieldwork The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:

P
age 19



Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

completed, in 
quality control

RMO1 – Housing Benefit is appropriately administered and accurately calculated.

10 ICT Data Sharing 5 N/A Not yet 
started

Proposal to remove

11 Council Tax 15 N/A Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to Administer, Bill, Collect and Refund Council 
Tax.

12 Housing Rent 15 N/A Draft report 
with client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Appropriate arrangements are in place to monitor and take action against 
current and former rent arrears within Gravesham Borough Council Housing Stock.

13 Financial Planning 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

14 Capital Budget 
Management 

10 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place for the appropriate management of capital 
budgets relating to Capital projects in the General Fund Account.

15 Market 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

16 IT Infrastructure 15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

17 Responsive 
Assurance Work 

8 N/A Underway No responsive assurance work carried out in the period 1 August 2017 to 30 
September 2017.

Corporate risks assurance work
Ongoing financial viability of the council
18 Digital 

Transformation
10 N/A Fieldwork 

completed, in 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Appropriate arrangements are in place to deliver digital transformation.

19 Contact Centre 
Operations

15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

P
age 20



Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Changes in national priorities and legislative change
20 General Data 

Protection 
Regulation

15 N/A Draft report 
with client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Effective arrangements are in place to ensure compliance ahead of the 
introduction of the General Data Protection Regulation on 25 May 2018.

Organisational capacity / resilience
21 Shared Services 15 N/A Not yet 

started
Proposal to remove

22 Business Continuity 10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

23 Member 
Development

10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

24 Legal & Contractual 
Advice (including 
Procurement)

10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

25 Staff performance 
Management 
Framework

10 N/A Not yet 
started

Proposal to defer to 2018-19

Housing Revenue Account services
26 Housing Revenue 

Account Building 
Management – 
Compliancy

10 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

27 Repairs & 
Maintenance 
Supplies 
Management

15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

28 Void Property 
Management & Re-
let

15 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

P
age 21



Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Waste & recycling Project
29 Waste & recycling 

project Post 
Implementation 
Review

5 N/A Not yet 
started

N/A

100% Business Rates Retention Scheme
30 NNDR 10 N/A Not yet 

started
N/A

Counter Fraud Assurance Work
31 Use of Council 

Vehicles
10 N/A Draft report 

with client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements exist to ensure council owned/ leased pool vehicles are used 
appropriately.

32 Right to Buy 10 10.5 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – There are adequate arrangements in place to prevent Right to Buy fraud.
Gravesham Borough Council utilises the ‘model’ Right to Buy application form as 
produced by Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG). The form is 
considered robust; however, a number of local authorities now use a supplementary 
claim form to obtain further information that is omitted from the DCLG application 
and establishes, amongst other things, how the applicant(s) intend to finance the 
purchase the property. Many also include declarations regarding the source of funds 
to appropriately address the requirements of money laundering regulations.
The Housing Services Business Plan makes no reference to the fraud risks associated 
with the Right to Buy scheme.  Opinion: Amber. 
RMO2 – There are adequate arrangements in place to detect Right to Buy fraud.
Details of applications are cross matched against internal systems; council tax and 
benefits for example, in an effort to verify the details provided. However, ID is only 
requested where documents are not already held. For example if there is ID on 
benefit records, no request will be made.  
There is no provision in place for visits to be conducted as part of the Right to Buy 
process to ensure that applicants are resident in their properties and are not sub-
letting or otherwise committing tenancy breaches that would impact on the sale of 

P
age 22



Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

the property. Opinion: Amber.
RMO3 – There are adequate arrangements in place to investigate and deter Right to 
Buy fraud.
A Housing Services Anti-Fraud Policy exists, which clearly sets out the authorities’ 
stance on all forms of housing fraud, including right to buy.
Staff are aware of the means in which suspicions of Right to Buy Fraud can be 
reported to the Audit & Counter Fraud team and these are investigated but 
applications are often allowed to proceed regardless of concerns raised by 
investigators about potential fraud or money laundering suspicions.   
Deterrents would be more effective if the council took a stronger approach to 
blocking suspicious applications and publicised any successful action taken against 
those found to have committed fraud. Opinion: Amber. 
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Five high priority and three medium 
priority. Recommendations relate to the introduction of secondary application 
forms, money laundering questionnaires, updates to the housing business plan, ID 
verification for all applicants, un-notified visits to all applicants, written procedures 
covering the verification process, the introduction of an enforcement policy and 
publicity of any positive actions taken in respect of right to buy fraud.
One recommendation rejected, relating to the introduction of an enforcement 
policy. This is to be incorporated into verification procedures instead.

Proactive Counter Fraud work

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

36 Data matching 
exercises, including 
National Fraud 
Initiative and Kent 
Intelligence Network

10 N/A Not yet 
started

Matches received as part of the 2016-17 exercise were distributed to relevant 
departments for checking to take place in order to eliminate any false positives and to 
report any concerns over suspected fraud to the Audit & Counter Fraud Team. To 
date, no referrals have been received in connection with these matches.
To date the KIN matches have not yielded any savings but feedback has been 
provided for future matching and matching of new data sets is scheduled to take 
place in the next few months.

P
age 23



Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

37 Fraud awareness 10 N/A Not yet 
started

A Members briefing session has taken place at Medway and a session at Gravesham is 
scheduled for early November. From there, awareness sessions will be delivered to 
wider management team and then individual departments.

Reactive Investigations work: external investigations

Area Number of cases 
concluded Summary of results

unavailable No financial savings identified during this reporting period.

Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations
Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations

No investigations concluded in this period. 

Other consultancy services including advice & information
Client service area Services provided

HR Shared Service The Audit & Counter Fraud Manager is part of the project group for the pending HR Shared Service with 
Medway.

Revenues & Benefits Shared Services An Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader is part of the project group for the pending Revenues & Benefits 
Shared Services with Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council. 

Automated Invoicing Two of the Audit & Counter Fraud Officers are part of the project group overseeing implementation of the 
Creditors automated invoicing system. 

Interreg  France (Channel) England Project The Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader has been appointed and undertaken training to deliver the First 
Level Controller role for Gravesham Borough Council as part of this project. 

P
age 24



Page 11 of 19

5. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
5.1. The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance 

and improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance 
& Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service QAIP was agreed by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 2017. 

5.2. The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management 
processes.  It should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent 
data quality verification; it is planned that officers in the team will carry out checks to ensure the 
accuracy of the calculation of performance data reported to Members in future. 

5.3. In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 25 performance indicators based 
on the balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth 
and customer.  Performance targets have been set for 19 of the 25 indicators however it should be 
noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present are not to target levels for the 
majority of these but are provided for Members information.  

Ref Target Outturn for report period

Financial

A&CF1 Total cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Service (compared to the 2015-16 baseline 
year budgets)

N/A GBC cost £216,221
(2015-16 £272,016)

A&CF 2 Average cost per assurance review £5,000 £3,996
(29 reviews averaging 12 days) 

A&CF 3 Cost per A&CF day £350 £346
A&CF 4a Value of cashable fraud losses identified, by 

fraud type
N/A £0

A&CF 4b Value of non-cashable fraud losses identified, 
by fraud type

N/A £0

Internal Process

A&CF 5 Compliance with PSIAS 100% As previously reported, a robust self- 
assessment was carried out in 
November 2016. The PSIAS include a 
total of 255 specific requirements; of 
these 34 were not relevant at the time 
of the assessment. Of the remaining 
221 requirements;
 154 were fully met and 47 were 

partially met (91%)
 20 were not met (10%)
The team prepared an action plan to 
address the gaps in compliance, and it is 
anticipated that the team will be fully 
compliant when the External Quality 

Page 25



Ref Target Outturn for report period

Assessment is carried out in 2017-18.
A&CF 6 Proportion of available resources spent on 

productive work 
90% 90%

A&CF 7 Proportion of productive work time spent on:
a) assurance work
b) consultancy work

55% Total: 69%
67%
2%

A&CF 8 Proportion of productive work time spent on:
a) proactive counter fraud work
b) reactive counter fraud work

45% Total: 31%
0%
31%

A&CF 9 Investigator average caseload N/A 7
A&CF 10 Proportion of agreed plan delivered (fieldwork 

completed):
Proportion of agreed plan underway 
(fieldwork current):

95% 30%

19%

A&CF 11 Proportion of assignments completed within 
allocated day budget

90% 0% 

A&CF 12 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90% 98%

A&CF 13 Proportion of recommended actions 
implemented by agreed date

95% 67%

A&CF 14 Number of recommendations agreed that are: 
a) not yet due

b) implemented
c) outstanding

N/A
26
32
16

A&CF 15 Number of referrals received N/A Figures unavailable
A&CF 16 Number of investigations closed N/A Figures unavailable

Learning & growth

A&CF 17 Proportion of staff with relevant professional 
qualification

25% 79%

A&CF 18 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 
professional qualification training  

25% 21%

A&CF 19 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & development

TBC 7.9 days 

A&CF 20 Staff turnover N/A 14.3%
A&CF 21 Proportion of completed reviews subject to a 

second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review

10% 0%

Customer

A&CF 22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% N/A – full client survey yet to be issued
A&CF 23 Member satisfaction Positive N/A – Members survey yet to be issued
A&CF 24 Opinion of external audit Positive In their Audit Plan for 2016-17, Grant 

Thornton stated:

Page 26



Ref Target Outturn for report period

Overall, we have concluded that the 
internal audit service provides an 
independent and satisfactory service to 
the council and that internal audit work 
contributes to an effective internal 
control environment. 

A&CF 25 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% N/A – no surveys returned in year to 
date

6. Review of Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
6.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the 
performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the supervisory 
staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. On at least a quarterly basis, a 
projection of the resources that will be available to the year end is carried out and compared to 
forecasts for each item of work on the plan to be completed. 

6.2 As mentioned in the first update report of 2017-18, there was a proposal to two audits from the plan, 
these being;  Item 10, ICT Data Sharing agreement, and item 21, Shared Services. There was however no 
formal recommendation for their removal from the plan.  

6.3 Following a full review of the plan there is a formal recommendation to remove two audits from the 
plan and defer a third to 2018-19. The reasons for this are;

 ICT Data Sharing Agreement – This agreement is not in place and is unlikely to be before the end of 
2017-18, meaning that there are no processes to be audited. This can be considered again in 2018-
19,

 Shared Services - the council currently operates three shared services, these being Audit & 
Counter Fraud, Legal and payroll. Legal & Contractual advice (including procurement advice) and 
payroll both have individual audits planned for 2017-18, which will include a review of the shared 
arrangements and we are not able to audit our own service. As such, it is felt that a specific shared 
service audit would be a duplication of work and its removal would not impact on the level of 
assurance provided.

 Staff Performance Management Framework – with the pending launch of a HR shared service, it is 
felt that it would be more appropriate to defer this particular audit to 2018-19 as the framework is 
likely to be subject to significant change as part of the move to the shared service.

6.4 It is felt that these amendments to the plan will not have a negative impact on the team’s ability to 
provide an adequate level of assurance. 

7. Follow up of agreed recommendations
7.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 

governance and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for 
improvement with service managers.  The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to 
monitor and ensure that management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior 

Page 27



management has accepted the risk of not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be 
prioritised based on risk.

7.2 An agreed follow up process is in place, consistent across both councils, whereby service managers are 
asked to provide an update on the action they have taken towards implementing all audit and counter-
fraud recommendations agreed. For all High priority recommendations, service managers are also asked 
to supply evidence and the Audit & Counter Fraud Team verify this to ensure that the reported action 
has been taken.  The results of all follow up work are also reported to the council’s Management Team 
on a quarterly basis.  

7.3 The table below provides an update on the implementation of all recommendations in the 
recommendation follow up process as of 30 September 2017. 

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Review title

Overall opinion and number of 
recommendations of each priority agreed 

with management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 
management response has been 

received
Planning Enforcement Opinion: Amber

Seven recommendations agreed: three 
high priority, three medium, one low. 
Recommendations related to the 
publication of policy and guidance on the 
council’s website and the development of 
procedure notes for staff, improving 
arrangements to monitor planning 
conditions, prioritising investigations of 
reports received and introducing specific 
arrangements to ensure all staff declare 
any interests.

Seven recommendations due, six 
implemented.
One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored by 
senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team. 

Section 106 Agreements  
& Other Planning 
Obligations  

Opinion: Amber
Five recommendations agreed: three high 
priority, two low. 
Recommendations related to improving 
consistency of Management Team reports 
requesting changes to the establishment, 
ensuring appropriate formal agreements 
are in place where external contracted 
staff are used, and ensuring the salaries 
budget and information held by HR/payroll 
are regularly reconciled.  

Five recommendations due, four 
implemented.
One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored by 
senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team.

Council Tax Recovery Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: three 
high priority. 
Recommendations related to improving 
arrangements for writing off small 
balances, ensuring audit trails are 
maintained and increasing reviews of 
historical debt.  

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented.
One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored by 
senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team.

Council Tax Discounts, 
Disregards & 

Opinion: Amber Five recommendations due, four 

Page 28



Audit & Counter Fraud 
Review title

Overall opinion and number of 
recommendations of each priority agreed 

with management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 
management response has been 

received
Exemptions Five recommendations agreed: three high 

priority, one medium, one low.
Recommendations were made to ensure 
that applications are completed and 
evidence checked in respect of all 
discounts, disregards and exemptions and 
that reviews are undertaken in a timely 
manner. Recommendations were also 
made to ensure that procedure notes are 
up to date and audit trails are maintained. 

implemented.
One low priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored by 
senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team.

Staff Sickness Recording 
& Monitoring 

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: one high 
priority, two medium.
Recommendations we made to review the 
council’s Managing Sickness Absence 
Policy, and enhance arrangements for 
monitoring sickness absence data.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

Taxi Licensing – 
Administration & 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Six recommendations agreed: three high 
priority, three medium. 
Recommendations were made to ensure 
that details of all license applications are 
recorded and published on the public 
register, to ensure that supporting 
documentation is obtained and 
appropriately stored for all applications 
and to ensure that reconciliations are 
undertaken to verify that all application 
fees have been received.  

Six recommendation due, five 
implemented.
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored by 
senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team.

Treasury Management - 
Compliance

Opinion: Green 
Three recommendations agreed: one 
medium priority, two low. 
Recommendations related to the updating 
of procedure notes, a review of the 
counter signatory function in treasury 
investment transactions and the updating 
of procedural guidance for reconciling 
investment transaction codes.

Three recommendations due, none 
implemented. 
One medium and two low priority 
recommendations outstanding – these 
are being monitored by senior 
management through the quarterly 
follow up reports to the council’s 
Management Team.

Business Planning and 
Risk Management 

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: three 
medium priority. 
Recommendations related to refresher 
training in risk management and a 
monitoring process to ensure all services 
produce business plans and risk registers 

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented. 

Page 29



Audit & Counter Fraud 
Review title

Overall opinion and number of 
recommendations of each priority agreed 

with management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 
management response has been 

received
aligned to the corporate objectives.
One medium priority recommendation 
rejected relating to formally aligning the 
budget setting and business plan/risk 
processes.

Budget Monitoring Opinion: Green
Three recommendations agreed: three low 
priority.
Recommendations related to budget 
holders being reminded of constitutional 
responsibilities, records for monitoring of 
quarterly budget reviews and a training 
programme for budget holders.

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented.  
One low priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored by 
senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team.

Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: one high 
priority, two medium.
Recommendations related to appropriate 
records being maintained for PI15, the 
updating of the private housing 
enforcement policy and gaining 
understanding of whether Category two 
and non-urgent service requests are being 
handled in a timely manner.

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented. 

Homelessness Opinion: Green
Three recommendations agreed: Two 
medium priority, one low. 
Recommendations related to ensuring that 
the council’s homelessness strategy is up 
to date, ensuring that temporary 
accommodation placements are 
appropriately authorised, and setting a 
budget to monitor bed & breakfast 
expenditure

One recommendation due, one 
implemented. 

Strategic Asset 
Management

Opinion: Amber
Six recommendations agreed: three high 
priority, three medium. 
Recommendations related to the updating 
and approval of existing policies and the 
council’s Constitution, arrangements for 
ensuring that records held by Finance and 
property Services align, ensuring that the 
council is making best use of the system 
currently used for maintaining its asset 
register, and the updating and approval of 
an existing policy.

Three recommendations due, none 
implemented. 
Two high and one medium priority 
recommendation outstanding – these 
are being monitored by senior 
management through the quarterly 
follow up reports to the council’s 
Management Team.

Page 30



Audit & Counter Fraud 
Review title

Overall opinion and number of 
recommendations of each priority agreed 

with management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 
management response has been 

received
Capital Planned Works 
Management 

Opinion: Green
One recommendation agreed: one low 
priority. 
The recommendation related to more 
effective use of the council website and 
social media.

No recommendations due before 30 
September 2017.

Standards of Conduct Opinion: Amber
Six recommendations agreed: four medium 
priority, two low. 
Recommendations related to; approvals 
for removal from Netconsent distribution 
lists, processes for declarations linked to 
gifts, hospitality and personal interests, 
updates to the employee code of conduct, 
and a central register of all declared 
personal interests.

Six recommendations due, four 
implemented. 
Two medium priority recommendations 
outstanding – these are being monitored 
by senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team.

NNDR Reliefs Opinion: Amber 
Six recommendations agreed: three high 
priority, one medium, two low. 
Recommendations related to information 
available on the councils website, 
discretionary rate relief criteria, use of 
application forms & declaration 
statements, and processes for determining 
charitable status and rate reliefs.

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored by 
senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team.

Business Continuity (IT) Opinion: Red
Four recommendations agreed: two high 
priority, two medium. 
Recommendations related to regular 
reviews of the IT continuity plan and 
overarching business continuity plan, 
training for staff involved with 
implementing the plan and testing of 
backup servers and generators.  

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented 
One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored by 
senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team.

Prevention of 
Procurement Fraud

Opinion: Amber
Four recommendations agreed: one high 
priority, three medium. 
Recommendations related to updating the 
Procurement Strategy, reviewing and 
formalising arrangements to secure 
procurement advice, strengthening 
controls to ensure all procurement activity 
specifically excludes suppliers convicted of 
fraud, bribery or corruption and ensuring 
transparency data is published in full on a 

No recommendations due before 30 
September 2017.

Page 31



Audit & Counter Fraud 
Review title

Overall opinion and number of 
recommendations of each priority agreed 

with management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 
management response has been 

received
timely basis.

Prevention of Creditors 
Fraud

Opinion: Amber
Five recommendations agreed: two high 
priority, two medium, one low. 
Recommendations related to improving 
arrangements to verify the legitimacy of 
new and existing supplier accounts, 
enhancements to arrangements for 
approving invoices and maintaining an 
authorised signatory list and the 
introduction of arrangements to manage 
potential conflicts of interest.

One recommendation due, one 
implemented. 

Transformation – 
change & project 
management

Opinion: Amber. 
Six recommendations agreed: three high 
priority, two medium, one low. 
Recommendations related to the 
introduction of a change project initiation 
document, appointment of Project 
Managers / Groups at the point of project 
approval, the establishing of performance 
indicators to monitor the success of change 
projects, the timely communication of 
projects that affect large numbers of 
employees, corporate monitoring of the 
programme of change projects as a whole 
and the introduction of training / guidance 
for change project managers.

No recommendations due before 30 
September 2017.

Right to Buy Opinion: Amber. 
Eight recommendations agreed: five high 
priority and three medium. 
Recommendations related to the 
introduction of secondary application 
forms, money laundering questionnaires, 
updates to the housing business plan, ID 
verification for all applicants, un-notified 
visits to all applicants, written procedures 
covering the verification process, the 
introduction of an enforcement policy and 
publicity of any positive actions taken in 
respect of right to buy fraud.
One recommendation rejected, relating to 
the introduction of an enforcement policy. 
This is to be incorporated into verification 
procedures instead.

No recommendations due before 30 
September 2017.

Page 32



Definitions of audit opinions 

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification:  Part 1 – Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 15 November 2017

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby – Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2017/18

PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT: 

To provide a mid-year review update report to Members of the Finance and Audit Committee 
on treasury management activity undertaken during the period April to September 2017.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1) The Finance and Audit Committee note the report.

2) The Finance and Audit Committee recommends to Full Council that the revised 
estimates against the prudential and treasury indicators are endorsed.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management was adopted by this Council on 2 March 2010.

1.2 The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities.

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out 
the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives.

 Receipt by the Full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an 
Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the previous 
year.

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions.

Page 35 Agenda Item 6



 Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the delegated 
body is the Finance and Audit Committee.

1.3 This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management, and covers the following:

 An economic update for the first half of the 2017/18 financial year;
 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy;
 The Council’s capital expenditure (prudential indicators);
 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2017/18;
 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2017/18;
 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2017/18;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2017/18.

2. ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

2.1 The following economic performance update has been provided by Capita Asset 
Services – Treasury Solutions.

2.2 After the UK economy showed strong growth in 2016, growth in 2017 has been 
weak; quarter 1 saw growth of +0.3% and quarter 2 growth was +0.3%) which 
meant that growth was the slowest for the first half of any year since 2012.  The 
main reason for this has been the sharp increase in inflation, caused by the 
devaluation of sterling after the referendum, feeding increases in the cost of 
imports into the economy.  This has caused, in turn, a reduction in consumer 
disposable income and spending power and so the services sector of the 
economy, accounting for around 75% of GDP, has seen weak growth as 
consumers cut back on their expenditure. However, more recently there have been 
encouraging statistics from the manufacturing sector which is seeing strong 
growth, particularly as a result of increased demand for exports. It has helped that 
growth in the EU, our main trading partner, has improved significantly over the last 
year.  However, this sector only accounts for around 11% of GDP so expansion in 
this sector will have a much more muted effect on the average total GDP growth 
figure for the UK economy as a whole

2.3 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting of 14 September 2017 surprised 
markets and forecasters by suddenly switching to a much more aggressive tone in 
terms of its words around warning that Bank Rate will need to rise. The Bank of 
England Inflation Reports during 2017 have clearly flagged up that they expected 
CPI inflation to peak at just under 3% in 2017, before falling back to near to its 
target rate of 2% in two years time. Inflation actually came in at 2.9% in August, 
(this data was released on 12 September), and so the Bank revised its forecast for 
the peak to over 3% at the 14 September meeting MPC.  This marginal revision 
can hardly justify why the MPC became so aggressive with its wording; rather, the 
focus was on an emerging view that with unemployment falling to only 4.3%, the 
lowest level since 1975, and improvements in productivity being so weak, that the 
amount of spare capacity in the economy was significantly diminishing towards a 
point at which they now needed to take action.  In addition, the MPC took a more 
tolerant view of low wage inflation as this now looks like a common factor in nearly 
all western economies as a result of increasing globalisation.  This effectively 
means that the UK labour faces competition from overseas labour e.g. in 
outsourcing work to third world countries, and this therefore depresses the 
negotiating power of UK labour. However, the Bank was also concerned that the 

Page 36



withdrawal of the UK from the EU would effectively lead to a decrease in such 
globalisation pressures in the UK, and so would be inflationary over the next few 
years

2.4 It therefore looks very likely that the MPC will increase Bank Rate to 0.5% in 
November or, if not, in February 2018.  The big question after that will be whether 
this will be a one off increase or the start of a slow, but regular, increase in Bank 
Rate. As at the start of October, short sterling rates are indicating that financial 
markets do not expect a second increase until May 2018 with a third increase in 
November 2019.  However, some forecasters are flagging up that they expect 
growth to improve significantly in 2017 and into 2018, as the fall in inflation will 
bring to an end the negative impact on consumer spending power while a strong 
export performance will compensate for weak services sector growth.  If this 
scenario were to materialise, then the MPC would have added reason to embark 
on a series of slow but gradual increases in Bank Rate during 2018. While there is 
so much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, consumer confidence, and 
business confidence to spend on investing, it is far too early to be confident about 
how the next two years will pan out

3. INTEREST RATE FORECASTS

3.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Capita Asset Services, has provided the following 
interest rate forecast:

3.2 Capita Asset Services undertook its last review of interest rate forecasts on 9 
August after the quarterly Bank of England Inflation Report.  There was no change 
in MPC policy at that meeting.  However, the MPC meeting of 14 September 
revealed a sharp change in sentiment whereby a majority of MPC members said 
they would be voting for an increase in Bank Rate “over the coming months”.  It is 
therefore possible that there will be an increase to 0.5% at the November MPC 
meeting. If that happens, the question will then be as to whether the MPC will stop 
at just withdrawing the emergency Bank Rate cut of 0.25% in August 2016, after 
the result of the EU withdrawal referendum, or whether they will embark on a 
series of further increases in Bank Rate during 2018.

3.3 The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is currently to the 
downside but huge variables over the coming few years include just what final form 
Brexit will take, when finally agreed with the EU, and when.

3.4 Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include:

 UK economic growth and increases in inflation are weaker than we 
currently anticipate.

 Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU and 
US.

Page 37



 Geopolitical risks in Europe, the Middle East and Asia, which could lead to 
increasing safe haven flows.

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis.

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks.

 Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth and to get 
inflation up consistently to around monetary policy target levels.

3.5 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates include:-

 The pace and timing of increases in the Fed. funds rate causing a 
fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative risks of holding 
bonds as opposed to equities and leading to a major flight from bonds to 
equities.

 UK inflation returning to significantly higher levels than in the wider EU and 
US, causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields.

4. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY UPDATE

4.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Annual Investment 
Strategy (AIS) for 2017/18 were approved by Council on 21 February 2017. A 
verbal update was given to the Finance and Audit Committee in June on Managed 
Property Funds.

4.2 At the last meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee on 12 September, it was 
agreed to endorse the work to investigate investment options and support further 
due diligence by officers on Diversified Income Funds.  As a result it was agreed to 
recommend to Full Council that the TMSS for 2017/18 be amended to include the 
use of Diversified Income Funds in the list of non-specified investments.  This was 
agreed by Full Council at its meeting on 10 October 2017.

5. THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL POSITION (PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS)

5.1 This part of the report is structured to update:

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans;

 How these plans are being financed

 The impact of changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and

 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

5.2 Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure - The table below shows the revised 
estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since the capital programme was 
agreed by Council as part of the budget.  This increase is attributable to the rolled 
forward allocations from 2016/17, as presented to Cabinet in September 2017 and new 
schemes for 2017/18 and an additional £10 million being approved for Property 
Acquisition.

Page 38



Capital Expenditure 2017/18
Original 
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Current 
Position

£m

2017/18
Revised 

Estimated
£m

Non HRA 4.819 1.809 15.063

HRA 13.155 5.324 13.493

Total 17.974 7.133 28.556

5.3 Prudential Indicator for the Financing of the Capital Programme - The table 
below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans 
(above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the 
capital programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital 
expenditure.  The borrowing element of the table increased the underlying 
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt 
(Minimum Revenue Provision).  This direct borrowing need may also be 
supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury requirements.

Capital Expenditure 2017/18
Original 
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Current 
Position

£m

2017/18
Revised 

Estimated
£m

Total 17.974 7.133 28.556

Financed by:

Capital Receipts 2.086 828 2.237

Capital Grants 1.996 332 1.262

Capital Reserves 4.148 1.642 3.900

Revenue 1.484 1.353 1.976

Depreciation 5.959 2.978 7.681

Total Financing 15.674 7.133 17.056

Borrowing Need 2.300 - 11.500

5.4 Prudential Indicator for the Capital Financing Requirement - The table below 
shows the CFR, which is the amount of capital spending that has not been 
financed by capital receipts, capital grants or contributions from revenue.

Capital Financing 
Requirement

2017/18
Original 
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Revised 

Estimated
£m

CFR – General Fund 20.290 29.487

CFR – HRA 88.665 88.665

Total CFR 108.955 118.152

Net Movement in CFR 3.593 (5.607)

Page 39



5.5 Prudential Indicator for External Debt and the Operational Boundary – The table 
below shows the current level of debt against the expected debt position over the 
financial year.

External Debt Operational BoundaryExternal Debt and 
Operational Boundary

Current Debt 
Position

£m

2017/18
Original 

Estimated
£m

2017/18
Revised 
Estimate

£m
Borrowing 100.391 125.000 125.000

Other long term 
liabilities -- 1.500 1.500

Total debt 31 March 100.391 126.500 126.500

5.6 The operational boundary is the maximum amount of borrowing which the council 
is permitted to undertake on a day to day basis and must not be breached other 
than for temporary cash flow demand purposes.  This level has not been breached 
during the first six months of 2017/18.  There is also no requirement to increase 
the operational boundary at this stage.

5.7 Prudential Indicator for Limits to Borrowing Activity - The first key control over 
the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over the medium term, 
net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  
Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total 
CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2017/18 
and next two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing 
for future years.  The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of 
need which will be adhered to if this proves prudent.

Borrowing Activity 2017/18
Original 
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Current 
Position

£m

2017/18
Revised 

Estimated
£m

Debt as at 1 April 101.676 101.677 101.677

Debt repayment (3.585) (0.041) (3.585)

New Loan 2.300 - -

Gross Debt 100.391 101.636 98.092

CFR (year-end position) 108.955 118.152

5.8 The Director (Corporate Services) reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the 
current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.

5.9 Prudential Indicator for the Authorised Limit - A further prudential indicator 
controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised Limit which 
represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set and 
revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, 
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. It is 
the expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected 
movements. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.

Page 40



Authorised limit for 
External Debt

2017/18
Original 
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Current 
Position

£m

2017/18
Revised 

Estimated
£m

Borrowing 126.500 126.500 126.500

Other long term liabilities 1.600 1.600 1.600

Total 128.100 128.100 128.100

6. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 2017/18

6.1 In accordance with the Treasury Management Code, it is the Council’s priority to 
ensure security of capital and liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return 
which is consistent with the Council’s risk appetite.  As set out in Section 3, it is a 
very difficult investment market in terms of earning the level of interest returns 
commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low and in line with the 
0.25% Bank Rate.  The continuing potential for a re-emergence of a Eurozone 
sovereign debt crisis and its impact on banks, prompts a low risk strategy.  Given 
this risk environment, and the fact that increases in Bank Rate are likely to be 
gradual and unlikely to return to the levels seen in previous decades, investment 
returns are likely to remain low.

6.2 The Council held £29.370m of market investments and £10.001m of Property Fund 
investments as at 30 September 2017 (£23.490m and £9.704m respectively as at 
31 March 2017).  The internally managed investment portfolio yield for the first six 
months of the year is 0.453% against the 3 month LIBID benchmark of 0.21%.  
Appendix 2 provides a pictorial representation of investment balances and returns 
for the first six months of this year as well as the yield generated.

6.3 Appendix 3 provides full list of investments held as at 30 September 2017.

6.4 The Director (Corporate Services) confirms that the approved limits within the 
Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 
2017/18.

6.5 As per the Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring Report, the current forecast income from 
investments is on budget.

7. PROPERTY FUNDS

7.1 In the 2016/17, it was agreed to invest up to £10m in Externally Managed Property 
Funds.  Following a selection panel, three funds were selected and investments 
were placed with CCLA, Lothbury and Hermes.

7.2 The table shows the Net Asset Value (NAV) for each of the Property Funds as at 
end of September compared to the Purchase Price, along with the average gross 
return on investment to date.

Page 41



Purchase 
Price Sept NAV % Change 

NAV

Average 
Gross Return 

on 
Investment

CCLA £1,873,528 £1,869,467 -0.22% 5.20%

Lothbury £4,949,648 £5,082,884 2.69% 4.19%

Hermes £2,883,821 £3,048,528 5.71% 3.96%

Total £9,706,997 £10,000,879 3.03% 4.32%

Note 1 – The average gross return is based on the 12 months to 30 September.  However, information from 
Hermes is available 6 weeks after the end of the quarter, and therefore the Hermes average gross return is based 
on the period July 16 – June 17.

7.3 We continue to monitor the performance as well as the suitability of the Property 
Funds on a regular basis.

7.4 The NAV dropped after the initial investment following the referendum but the 
value of both Lothbury and Hermes has increased not only to the original 
investment value but to such a level that it has covered the entry fees as well.  As 
at end September, the value of the CCLA fund had not quite recovered to the initial 
investment amount.

7.5 The average gross return of 4.32% across the three funds is above the 4% that is 
included in the budget.

7.6 Whilst both the fund values and the returns are positive, it must be remembered 
that investment in Property Funds must be viewed as a long term investments and 
that values can go up as well as down.

8. CASHFLOW

8.1 A cashflow forecast was provided to Members of the Finance and Audit Committee 
in September 2017 alongside the Alternative Treasury Management Investment 
Options report.

8.2 An updated version of the graph is included in Appendix 4 and 5 to this report.  
There is very little change apart from a delay in the capital receipt from the sale of 
the PV panels.  The cashflow presented in September assumed that:

 The additional £10m from Property Acquisitions is fully utilised in 
November 2017 and as a result is generating a return of around 5.5%.

 A further £10m is invested in Diversified Income Funds (DIF’s) in 
November for a 2 year period and is generating a return of around 3%.

8.3 The move to Universal Credit could have implications on the Authority’s cashflow.  
Officers from Finance, Revenues and Benefits and Housing will be meeting later 
this month to discuss the agree assumptions that need to be factored into the 
cashflow model.  The impact of these assumptions will be shared at the next 
meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee.

9. BORROWING

9.1 The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) for 2017/18 is £118,152.  The 
CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. If the 
CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external 

Page 42



borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing).  
The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market 
conditions.  Para 5.7 shows the Council has borrowings of £98.092m and has 
utilised £20.060m of cashflow funds in lieu of borrowing. This is a prudent and cost 
effective approach in the current economic climate but will require ongoing 
monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields prevails.

9.2 Previously the capital programme for 2017/18 included a provision of £2.3m for the 
redevelopment of the former Fleet Leisure Site, which is to be funded by 
unsupported borrowing.  On 12 June 2017, Cabinet agreed that the arrangements 
to develop the land at the site would be at no further cost to the council.  The 
Council is seeking expressions of interest from suitable organisations for the 
development of the site for sport and leisure purposes and has now advertised this 
opportunity through the Kent Business portal and with the wider European 
community.  This project has therefore been removed from the capital programme 
and the unsupported borrowing has been removed from the CFR calculation.

10. DEBT RESCHEDULING

10.1 Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic 
climate given the consequent structure of interest rates, and following the increase 
in the margin added to the gilt yields which has impacted PWLB rates since 
October 2010. No debt rescheduling was undertaken during the first six months of 
2017/18.

11. OTHER

11.1 In February 2015 the Authority became a shareholder in the Municipal Bonds 
Agency (MBA), with an investment of £20,000.  The MBA was established by the 
Local Government Association (LGA) in the belief that it would provide councils 
with the opportunity to raise funds at significantly lower rates that those offered by 
the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).

11.2 The MBA have not yet issued any loans as there are still some legal issues around 
joint and several guarantee which requires all local authorities borrowing from the 
MBA to guarantee the money owed by the Agency to those who have lent it funds 
to finance its loans.  Officers will continue to monitor progress of the MBA and will 
provide updates to Members accordingly.

11.3 As per Section 4 of this report, following the Finance and Audit meeting on 
12 September, officers have held an initial meeting with Capita to understand the 
fund structures and operations further of Diversified Income Funds.  Capita have 
ascertained that there are ten funds where the investment can be classified as 
revenue.  The funds have been contacted by Capita informing them of our interest 
in investing along with a questionnaire to be completed.  The deadline for 
completion of these questionnaires is 10 November.  Once they have been 
received, the responses will be analysed and funds will be short listed and invited 
to a selection panel to be held towards the end of November.  Following this, a 
meeting of the Property Acquisitions Cross Party Working Group will be convened 
to make a final decision.

11.4 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, (CIPFA), is currently 
conducting an exercise to consult local authorities on revising the Treasury 
Management Code and Cross Sectorial Guidance Notes, and the Prudential Code. 
CIPFA is aiming to issue the revised codes during November.

11.5 A particular focus of this exercise is how to deal with local authority investments 
which are not treasury type investments e.g. by investing in purchasing property in 
order to generate income for the authority at a much higher level than can be 

Page 43



attained by treasury investments.  One recommendation is that local authorities 
should produce a new report to members to give a high level summary of the 
overall capital strategy and to enable members to see how the cash resources of 
the authority have been apportioned between treasury and non treasury 
investments. Officers are monitoring developments and will report to members 
when the new codes have been agreed and issued and on the likely impact on this 
authority.

11.6 The EU has now set a deadline of 3 January 2018 for the introduction of 
regulations under MIFID II.  These regulations will govern the relationship that 
financial institutions conducting lending and borrowing transactions will have with 
local authorities from that date.  Under the regulations all Local Authorities will be 
treated as Retail Clients, however, the legislation allows for Authorities to opt up to 
become a Professional Client.  Remaining as Retail Clients could restrict the 
investment options and institutions available to the Authority to use and therefore 
the Authority will be opting up to Professional Client status.  In order to achieve 
Professional status forms will need to be completed for each institution we deal 
with.

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS

12.1 There are no Background Papers pertaining to this Report.

Page 44



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal As per Section 1.13B.67 of the Council's constitution, the Chief Finance Officer has 
delegated responsibility from Cabinet

"in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans as are legally 
permitted to meet the Council's borrowing requirements".

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

Due to the nature of the report, the financial implications are contained within the 
report.

In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon generating 
maximum interest from its investments whilst minimising and managing the 
exposure to risk.  In order to achieve this, investments are only placed with 
institutions which meet the criteria set out within the TMSS.

Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the authority, 
officers will seek advice from Capita Asset Services on timings and options in order 
to ensure the best deal for the authority.

Risk 
Assessment

A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury Management were 
identified in the Treasury Management Strategy approved by Council on 
21 February 2017.  Officers continue to monitor the risks on a day to day basis and 
identify mitigating actions to minimise risks.
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective 4 - Sound and Self Sufficient Council

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

No direct implications.

Page 45



Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 46



Year Quarter Month Date Deals Average Balance Weighted Average Rate

2017/2018 1 April April average £26,317,833.33 0.47539%

May May average £26,203,548.39 0.48842%

June June average £27,114,333.33 0.47258%

2017/2018 Q1 average £26,541,483.52 0.47882%

2 July July average £28,128,709.68 0.44933%

August August average £29,092,419.35 0.41842%

September September average £30,686,333.33 0.42302%

2017/2018 Q2 average £29,287,445.65 0.42999%

2017/2018 average £27,921,967.21 0.45308%

Deposits Dashboard 
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA)

Start Date: 01/04/2017

As of Date: 30/09/2017

Page 1 of 2Report Generated at 10/10/17 13:56. Data As At 30/09/17

P
age 47



Type Amount %

Fixed £28,000,000 95.34%

MMF £1,370,000 4.66%

Total £29,370,000

Counterparty Name Amount %

Lloyds Bank plc £5,000,000 17.02%

Goldman Sachs International £5,000,000 17.02%

UBS AG £5,000,000 17.02%

Barclays Bank plc £5,000,000 17.02%

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe Ltd £4,000,000 13.62%

Standard Chartered Bank £2,000,000 6.81%

Cooperative Rabobank U.A £2,000,000 6.81%

Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc £1,370,000 4.66%

Deutsche Managed Sterling Advisory £0 0.00%

GS Sterling Liquid Reserve Institutional Inc £0 0.00%

SLI Sterling Liquidity/Cl 3 £0 0.00%

Total £29,370,000

Type Amount %

UK £21,000,000 71.50%

Switzerland £5,000,000 17.02%

Netherlands £2,000,000 6.81%

Not Defined £1,370,000 4.66%

Total £29,370,000

Page 2 of 2Report Generated at 10/10/17 13:56. Data As At 30/09/17

P
age 48



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 832 13/04/17 13/10/17 Lloyds Bank plc Maturity 0.5500% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 833 18/04/17 18/10/17 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe 
Ltd

Maturity 0.3900% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 834 03/05/17 03/11/17 Lloyds Bank plc Maturity 0.5500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 835 06/06/17 06/12/17 Barclays Bank plc Maturity 0.3200% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 836 15/06/17 15/12/17 Goldman Sachs International Maturity 0.6550% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 837 15/06/17 15/12/17 Barclays Bank plc Maturity 0.3100% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 838 19/06/17 19/03/18 UBS AG Maturity 0.3900% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 839 12/07/17 12/01/18 Barclays Bank plc Maturity 0.3400% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 840 17/07/17 17/01/18 Barclays Bank plc Maturity 0.3300% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 841 19/07/17 19/01/18 Goldman Sachs International Maturity 0.5550% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 842 21/07/17 23/04/18 Cooperative Rabobank U.A Maturity 0.3800% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 843 01/08/17 21/06/18 UBS AG Maturity 0.5200% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 844 15/08/17 15/02/18 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe 
Ltd

Maturity 0.3400% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 845 08/09/17 28/08/18 UBS AG Maturity 0.4700% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 846 22/09/17 22/03/18 Standard Chartered Bank Maturity 0.4000% -2,000,000.00

Fixed Total 0.4584% -28,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.2044% -1,370,000.00

MMF Total 0.2044% -1,370,000.00

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,553,522.00

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -1,869,466.79

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -495,006.00

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -5,082,884.10

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -10,000,878.89

Deposit Total 0.3331% -39,370,878.89

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -39,370,878.89

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA)

As At: 30/09/2017

Page 1 of 1Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 11/10/17 09:40

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



-20,000,000

-10,000,000

 -

 10,000,000

 20,000,000

 30,000,000

 40,000,000

 50,000,000

A
p

r-1
7

Ju
l-1

7

O
ct-1

7

Fe
b

-1
8

M
ay-1

8

Se
p

-1
8

D
e

c-1
8

A
p

r-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

N
o

v-1
9

Fe
b

-2
0

M
ay-2

0

Se
p

-2
0

D
e

c-2
0

A
p

r-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

N
o

v-2
1

Fe
b

-2
2

Ju
n

-2
2

Se
p

-2
2

Jan
-2

3

A
p

r-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

N
o

v-2
3

Fe
b

-2
4

Ju
n

-2
4

Se
p

-2
4

Jan
-2

5

A
p

r-2
5

A
u

g-2
5

N
o

v-2
5

M
ar-2

6

GBC Cashflow Forecast Inc General Fund Savings as at October 2017 

Repayment of £8m  
Stock Loan May 2020 

Repayment of £5.418m 
PWLB Loan plus Interest 

March 2021 

Repayment of £7.184m 
PWLB Loan plus Interest 

March 2022 

Repayment of £7.761m 
PWLB Loan plus Interest 

March 2023 

Repayment of £8.370m 
PWLB Loan plus Interest 

March 2024 

Assumed  borrowing of 
£629k for HRA Oct 2019 

Assumed  borrowing of 
£5.721m for HRA Oct 2020 

Assumed  borrowing of 
£5.856m for HRA Oct 2021 

Assumed  borrowing of 
£5.288m for HRA Oct 2022 

Assumed  borrowing of 
£5.436m for HRA Oct 2023 

Assumed  borrowing of 
£2.137m for HRA Oct 2024 

Assumed  borrowing of 
£4m for HRA Oct 2025 

Repayment of £4.101m 
PWLB Loan plus Interest 

March 2019 

Repayment of £.3.504m 
PWLB Loan plus Interest 

March 2018 

Repayment of £9.010m 
PWLB Loan plus Interest 

March 2025 

Sale of PV Panels  
Oct 2017 

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



-20,000,000

-10,000,000

 -

 10,000,000

 20,000,000

 30,000,000

 40,000,000

 50,000,000

A
p

r-1
7

Ju
l-1

7

O
ct-1

7

Fe
b

-1
8

M
ay-1

8

Se
p

-1
8

D
e

c-1
8

A
p

r-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

N
o

v-1
9

Fe
b

-2
0

M
ay-2

0

Se
p

-2
0

D
e

c-2
0

A
p

r-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

N
o

v-2
1

Fe
b

-2
2

Ju
n

-2
2

Se
p

-2
2

Jan
-2

3

A
p

r-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

N
o

v-2
3

Fe
b

-2
4

Ju
n

-2
4

Se
p

-2
4

Jan
-2

5

A
p

r-2
5

A
u

g-2
5

N
o

v-2
5

M
ar-2

6

Oct 17 Aug-17

GBC Cashflow as at October 2017 compared to GBC Cashflow as at August 2017 

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 15 November 2017

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Mid-Year review of the Corporate Risk Register 2017-18

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Finance and Audit Committee with a half-year update of the 
Corporate Risk Register 2017-18 for consideration and review. 

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to:
2. Refer to appendix two of this report and note the progress that has been made so far 

in managing or mitigating each risk that is recorded within the 2017-18 Corporate Risk 
Register.

3. Voice any concerns regarding the extent of progress that has been made, so that if 
required these concerns can be raised at the next Cabinet meeting.

4. Start preparing for the development of the 2018-19 Corporate Risk Register and if 
necessary suggest which risks (if any) should be removed and/or propose any new 
and emerging risks that should be considered for assessment and possible inclusion 

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 The Finance and Audit Committee have a responsibility to monitor the effective 
development and operation of risk management and corporate governance in the 
council.  This responsibility helps strengthen the council’s risk management 
arrangements through closer monitoring of the management actions specified in the 
Corporate Risk Register and in turn enhances contribution to the development of the 
annual Corporate Risk Register.

1.2 During development of the Corporate Risk Register for 2017-18, nine potential 
strategic risks were identified and assessed, of which five were considered to be 
above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold.  These risks are listed below and have 
formed the Corporate Risk Register for 2017-18:

 Ongoing financial viability of the council
 Changes in national priorities and legislative change
 Organisational capacity/resilience
 Housing Revenue Account services
 100% Business Rate Retention Scheme

Page 55 Agenda Item 7



2

1.3 Further research and assessment of the remaining four risks which are listed below 
found that all fell below the risk threshold and for this reason they were excluded 
from the register:

 Waste & Recycling Project 
 Universal Credit 
 UK leaving the EU 
 Employee Relations issues

2. Review of the Corporate Risk Register 2017-18 

2.1 When developing the Corporate Risk Register for 2017-18, officers identified a 
number of actions which would help them to either manage or mitigate each risk. 
The register was approved by Cabinet in February 2017 and sets out:  

 A description of each risk that is currently facing the council.

 A summary of action(s) required in mitigating each risk; this is either a 
summary of actions the council has taken or is in the process of taking.

 The risk score for each risk, calculated by utilising the scoring mechanism 
shown in the risk matrix below:

The Risk Matrix

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4

Medium Risk
Low Risk

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

2.2 A Quarterly Assessment Table is attached at appendix two of this report to show:

Page 56



3

 The background information about each risk 
 Details of controls that are in place to eliminate reduce or transfer each risk.
 The title of lead officer responsible for overseeing control actions. 
 A control update. 
 A colour coded risk assessment showing the assessed effectiveness of control 

actions that are being taken in order to manage individual risks. 

2.4 Members are asked to review the information provided within the table and discuss 
whether or not further action is necessary to manage or mitigate each risk.  Where it 
is considered that sufficient control action is not being taken concerns should be 
raised so that they can be referred to Cabinet for further consideration.

3. Development of the 2018-19 Corporate Risk Register

  3.1 The development of the council’s Corporate Risk Register for 2018-19 will commence 
in December 2017.  Risk Management Training was delivered as part of the 
Members Training Programme on 18 October to assist in ensuring Members have 
the requisite skills to fulfil the key role played in the development of the Corporate 
Risk Register, in particular identifying the strategic risks that the council is likely to 
face in the coming year.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 57



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register which highlights the potential 
issues associated with proposed legislative changes that may affect the 
council moving forward.  Senior Management are being kept up to date with 
legislative change to ensure that they are able to be fully aware of potential 
changes proposed to assess how these may affect the council..

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no financial or value for money implications arising from the 
Corporate Risk Register itself.
‘Ongoing financial viability of the Council’ is one of the key corporate risks 
identified within the Corporate Risk register and a specific update against 
this risk is included within appendix two.

Risk 
Assessment

The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in 
managing risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-
making.  It is important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a 
regular basis by both officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified 
and action being taken to mitigate existing risks is effective
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Good risk management is a key aspect of the council’s overall governance 
arrangements, which support the delivery of all objectives within the 
Corporate Business Plan 2015-19 but particularly Strategic Objective Four – 
Sound and Self Sufficient Council

Crime and 
Disorder

The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and 
development of the Corporate Risk Register

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Page 58



5

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council 
Risk & Control Assessment 

(Quarterly Assessment to be undertaken for all risks detailed in the 2017-18 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Page 1 

 
  

 
 
 

  

Gravesham Borough Councils Corporate Risk Register outlines the key strategic risks facing the council, the controls currently in place to 
respond to these risks and any further action required by the council to properly manage these risks 

 

 

The risks that are documented in the 2017-18 - Corporate Risk Register are listed below: 

 

1. Ongoing financial viability of the Council  

 

2. Changes in national priorities and legislative change  

 

3. Organisational capacity/resilience  

 

4. Housing Revenue Account Services  
 

 

5. 100% Business Rate Retention Scheme
  

 

The actions that the council has in place/needs to implement in order to manage the above risks are assessed as one of the following: 

 

     Actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required. 

 

Whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk.  

 

 

The action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and therefore further work is required. 

 

 
This document should be read in conjunction with the report in which the outcomes from the quarterly risk assessment exercise are 
presented.   

 

Good 
 

Satisfactory 

Inadequate 

Page 61



Gravesham Borough Council  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
Page 2 

 
  

 
 
Risk: 1. Ongoing financial viability of the Council  
 

Owner: Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services 

 
Risk Background: CURRENT UPDATE 
Financial pressures on local government continue to put unprecedented strain on councils.  The council reluctantly 
accepted the multi- year local government finance settlement in October 2016 which confirms a reduction in funding for the 
council over the period to 2019-20 equivalent to £2m (43%) over the period. By 2019-20 overall level of Central 
Government Grant funding received by the Council will have reduced by £5m (65%) since 2010-11.  In 2017-18 the 
council will also be affected by changes to the New Homes Bonus Scheme which will see a 78% reduction in the funding 
received from this stream by 2019-20 compared to the anticipated level of funding prior to the scheme redesign. 
Government continues with its intentions to reform the Business Rates Retention Scheme and conclude the Fair Funding 
Review which bring further volatility and uncertainty to the council’s financial sustainability.  The Medium Term Financial 
Strategy had identified a £2.5m funding gap by 2019-20.  The announcements with regard to New Homes Bonus have 
seen that gap widen further, though early activity in implementing action to bridge the funding gap and growth in business 
rates and council tax has resulted in a new net additional funding gap of £0.4m (therefore a £2.9m budget reduction in 
total). The Council will need to take further action to meet its funding requirements and continue to consider its options for 
service delivery. 
 

 
Consequences: 

 Financial savings not achieved. 

 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted. 

 Problems stored up for the future. 

 Minimum working balance of £1.25 million is not maintained. 

 Needing to make use of £2 million General Revenue Reserve set-aside to mitigate financial risks. 

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of delivery, potentially leading to damage to 
Council’s reputation 

 New legislative requirements not met. 

 Uncertainty over future large projects. 

 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 
 

 INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 

        

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place Director ( Corporate Services)  

Assistant Director (Corporate Services)  

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was 
fundamentally reviewed and updated to reflect the 
financial position of the council going into the 
2016/17 financial year, identify the funding gap to 
be addressed and set the strategic plan (Bridging 
the Gap) for managing the council's finances 
through to 2019-20.   

The MTFS continues to direct the activity of the council in 
managing its finances through to 2019-20.  This activity enabled 
the council to realise a £1.1m reduction in base budget 
requirement when setting the budget for 2017-18, with a further 
£0.5m base budget reductions reported in the Q2 budget 
monitoring report.   

    

1.2  Medium Term Financial Plan in place Assistant Director (Corporate Services) The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) spans 
10 years and is regularly reviewed and updated to 
ensure the Council has a sound and realistic plan 
for managing the Council’s finances moving 
forward.  

The MTFP continues to be maintained and presented to 
Management Team and Members on a periodic basis as part of 
budget monitoring arrangements.  

    

1.3 Diversification of investment activity 

 

Director ( Corporate Services)  

Assistant Director (Corporate Services)  

To improve the return on council cash balances, 
£10m has been placed with three Property Fund 
Managers during 2016-17, with a further £10m 
directed to the acquisition of commercial property 
to secure an ongoing revenue rental stream.    

In response to continuing uncertainty in local government 
financing and low level interest rates, Members have recently 
approved the extension of the Commercial Property Acquisition 
Programme by a further £10m and further diversification of the 
investment tools utilised by the council.  This activity is intended 
to generate enhanced revenue returns above the level currently 
available from traditional investments in banks and building 
societies. 

    

P
age 62



Gravesham Borough Council  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
Page 3 

 
  

 

 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer Control Narrative Control Update 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.4 Robust budget monitoring arrangements in 
place 

Assistant Director (Corporate Services) Budget monitoring arrangements continue, with 
Management Team receiving monthly monitoring 
information relating to significant items of income 
and expenditure such as staffing costs and fees 
and charges income.  Quarterly budget monitoring 
reports are submitted to Cabinet and Finance and 
Audit Committee. 

A specific exercise has been undertaken focusing 
on areas of consistent underspend and overspend 
against budgetary provisions over the last four 
years, with a net £200k based budget savings 
delivered.  A review of reserves has also recently 
been carried out to ensure that earmarked 
reserves continue to be fit for purpose. 

The arrangements continue to be in place and operating 
effectively. 

Scrutiny of specific budget lines will be undertaken as part of the 
budget setting process which commenced in September. 

 

    

1.5 Service Review Process recommendations 
considered for implementation 

Director (Corporate Services) Service review options are required to deliver 
£1.4m of budget reductions as part of the 
council’s Bridging the Gap activity.  
Recommendations from the Service Review 
Process are presented currently in the process of 
being presented for consideration and 
implementation by Members.  

Total service review options of £1.46m have been agreed by 
Cabinet. As at September 2017, £0.8m of base budget 
reductions derived from these options had been reflected in the 
MTFP of the council. 

 

    

P
age 63



Gravesham Borough Council  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
Page 4 

 
  

 

Risk 2.: Changes in national priorities and legislative change  Owner: Chief Executive & Management Team 

 
Risk Background: CURRENT UPDATE 
The council needs to keep abreast of developments in legislation to ensure that it is best placed to respond to any 
changes it may face. Failure to account for the Government’s legislative programme may involve: 
 

• Change of direction for the council may be required. 
• Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff. 
• Severe financial position encountered may restrict which services the council can deliver (see Risk 1). 
• Failure to meet stakeholder expectations. 
• Funding pressures / increased costs of working. 
• Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress. 
• Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies. 

 
Consequences: 

• Change of direction for the council may be required. 
• Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff. 
• Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which services the council can deliver (see 1).  
• Failure to meet stakeholder expectations 
• Funding pressures / increased costs of working 
• Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress. 
• Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies. 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

 

        

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative Control Update 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2.1 Circulation of monthly policy & legislative 
briefings 

Corporate Performance Manager Monthly Policy Briefings are prepared and 
circulated to Management Team and Wider 
Management Team to update on key issues 
emerging from central government departments, 
including new and proposed legislative changes. 

Monthly policy briefings were delivered throughout the 6-month 
period to ensure that officers are fully informed of changes or 
potential changes affecting their own service areas and the 
wider council. From this activity relevant Service Managers are 
then able to report to Management Team on government 
proposals impacting upon their areas of business. 

The dissolution of Parliament on 3 May 2017 in advance of the 
General Election meant that there were limited legislative 
developments in the first quarter of 2017/18. The most notable 
piece of legislation enacted during the period being the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, for which the Corporate 
Management Team is to receive a dedicated briefing on the full 
implications to the council’s Housing service as the Act is 
operationally implemented. 

In addition, following the General Election a legislative briefing 
was compiled that provided an overview of the key points 
relating to those Bills that received Royal Assent before the 
election announcement and, for completion, to outline those 
Bills that were not enacted nor re-introduced into the following 
Parliamentary session.  

Equally the briefing also captured the implications specifically 
announced by the Queen’s Speech 2017 that introduced 
prospective legislation for the 2017-19 period.  

    

P
age 64



Gravesham Borough Council  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
Page 5 

 
  

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative Control Update 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2.2 Proactive arrangements to respond to 
consultations from central government 
departments and agencies. 

Wider Management Team Where it is considered the council has the 
opportunity to help shape government policy, 
consultations are responded to formally by the 
council. 

 

During the year to date, the council has continued to effectively 
represent its position in the process of central government 
consultations. This is carried out individually on behalf of the 
council, or collaboratively with other neighbouring district 
authorities, or as part of a wider network group (Local 
Government Association, District Councils’ Network (DCN) 
etc.). Adopting this approach ensures that the views of the 
council are communicated back to government so that they may 
be taken into account as policy decisions are formulated ahead 
of any new legislative programme.  

In the last six months the council’s efforts have included formal 
responses to: 

 Business Rates Retention;  

 Housing White Paper; and 

 Local Government Finance Settlement. 

 

    

2.3 Establishment of a new Member training and 
development plan for the next three years.  

Committee Services Manager/Wider 
Management Team 

The member training programme provides for 
specific Member duties governed by a statutory 
framework (Regulatory Board), and also for new 
legislative and policy decisions by government. 

In June 2016 Cabinet approved the establishment of a new 
training and development plan for the next three years.  

The training helps develop knowledge and resilience at a 
Member and officer level, and ensures the council makes 
informed decisions whilst meeting legislative requirements.  

In the first half of the year, the Member training programme has 
continued with sessions in the following areas:  

 Homelessness; 

 Statement of Accounts; 

 Introduction to Local Government Finance; 

 Housing Repairs and Maintenance; 

 Regulatory Board – refresher training;  

 Business Rates training; and 

 Licensing Panel. 

 

    

P
age 65



Gravesham Borough Council  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
Page 6 

 
  

 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
 

Control Update 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2.4 Active role in the Gravesham Area Board Corporate Performance Manager The Gravesham Area Board is established as a 
forum for collectively reviewing and steering public 
resources in local services to meet the needs of 
the local Gravesham community. Central to that 
aim, partners of the Board provide regular 
briefings and intelligence sharing on the core 
legislative developments impacting on their 
services (e.g. public health agenda) with a view to 
ensure joint-working opportunities are identified 
and progressed for the benefit of Gravesham 
residents. 

The Board has been in place since May 2013 and whilst 
good levels of attendance were maintained in the first three 
years, the Board’s level of attendance fell to 40% in the two 
meetings held in 2017-18.  This prompted the Chair of the 
Board, Cllr David Turner, to request a survey of all partners 
to be undertaken to establish their opinion on the Gravesham 
Area Board, both in terms of its purpose and whether it can 
be sustained in its current form. 

The findings of the survey were presented to Cabinet on 6 
November 2017 and set out the intention to discontinue the 
Gravesham Area Board and, instead, make greater use of 
the existing suite of Cabinet Committees with partner 
agencies being invited to present items to these meetings, in 
a guest capacity, in line with the council’s constitutional 
arrangements. 

    

P
age 66



Gravesham Borough Council  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
Page 7 

 
  

 
 

Risk 3:  Organisational capacity/ resilience 

 
Owner: Chief Executive & Management Team 

 
Risk Background: CURRENT UPDATE 
The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of arrangements to help deal with the reduction in Government 
funding over the medium term, including approval of all new appointments and the cessation of temporary staff contracts and 
non-contractual overtime (except in exceptional circumstances).    
 
Announcements on local government finance are going to require decisions to be taken about future service delivery, and 
these actions are likely to see changes to the staff establishment. This, in turn, may place greater demands on remaining staff, 
exposing the council to key person dependency and the risk of poor resilience. Management and staff can help improve 
organisational capacity and resilience by identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across departments, developing the skills 
and abilities of key leaders and staff and actively considering opportunities to work with others.  The council has recognised 
the importance of having an effective HR function in place to support the organisation through such a period and is actively 
progressing the development of an HR Shared Service with Medway Council to increase capacity and resilience in its existing 
arrangements.    
 
The council also need to ensure that it has plans in place to cope with other potential impacts on capacity which may result 
from severe weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services can continue to be delivered. 

 
Consequences: 

• Council unprepared for changes resulting in additional costs/ workloads for staff. Adverse impact on 
staff being asked to adopt more flexibility and a greater workload, when their managers have less 
flexibility to incentivise or support staff in light of pay and recruitment freezes. 

• Essential services where there is greater staff turnover are adversely impacted compared to services 
with less staff turnover. 

• Increasing organisational stress creating a negative impact on productivity and motivation. 
• Potential adverse impact on public liability claims if services like repairs and maintenance are not 

completed or recorded properly. 
• Increased likelihood of internal controls as a result of having fewer staff in post. 
• Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality possible. 
• A fall in staff morale could increase staff sickness and stress. 
• There will be a requirement to provide staff with additional support to overcome their work related 

health issues. 
• Potential damage to Councils Reputation 

NHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

        

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

 

3.1 Effective allocation of resources 
 

Management Team Resources are monitored and allocated to critical 
tasks  

Management Team continue to monitor and evaluate all service 
requests and where appropriate departments restructure to align 
resources with services in order to improve service delivery.  
Plans are underway to boost capacity and resilience in the HR 
Team to support Management in such activity. 

    

 
3.2 Flexible working arrangements 

 
Management Team 

 
 

 
Staff are encouraged to work more flexibly across 
the organisation and opportunities for 
redeployment, secondments and project work are 
offered where appropriate. 

Flexible working options continue to be offered to staff to enable 
a good work life balance taking into account the business needs.  
Redeployment is looked at to encourage movement of staff 
during restructure processes and the council continue to offer 
opportunities for corporate, cross department working.  Shared 
services opportunities currently being explored to increase 
resilience of HR and in the Environmental Health service 

    

 
3.3 Provision of training and support 

 

Director (Communities) 

 

Training to support increased flexible working 
across the organisation is provided 

Provision and review of council policies to support the business 
aimed at increasing the provision of easy access management 
guidance and advice.  Programme of management training 
commenced in September to support Absence Management, 
Grievance handling, Discipline and Capability. 

    

 
3.4 Workforce Support 

 

Director (Communities) 

 

Initiatives that support the workforce  are provided 
and reviewed  

All council staff and their dependants have access to Employee 
Assistance Programme 24/7 365 days a year;   Healthy living 
support and advice readily available; Access to Mental Health 
support and advice. Occupational Health Service to advise and 
support staff and managers in regards to medical issues. Joint 
Staff Forum with wider staff representation and  dissemination of 
information continues 

    

P
age 67



Gravesham Borough Council  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
Page 8 

 
  

Risk 4:  Housing Revenue Account Services  

 
Owner: Director (Housing and Regeneration) Assistant Director (Housing) 

 
Risk Background: CURRENT UPDATE 

There continues to be pressures on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) from government policy decisions, though recent 
announcements relating to the ability to increase social rents from 2020 have provided some positive news.  Challenges from 
the way in which supported housing is funding and the implementation of initiatives such as Pay to Stay and the requirement 
to sell high value dwellings still remain, though there does appear to be some softening of central government’s desire to 
drive these changes through quickly.   

 
Consequences: 

• Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which services the council can deliver. 
• Financial savings required not achieved. 
• Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted. 
• Problems stored up for the future. 
• Minimum reserve position of £3.0 million is not maintained. 
• Cuts in services and/or drop in quality of delivery possible leading to damage to Council’s reputation. 
• New legislative requirements not met. 
• Uncertainty over future large projects. 
• Potential for housing stock to deteriorate. 
• Failure to meet stakeholder expectations 
• Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 3 Impact 3 Score 9 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

        

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

4.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place 

  

Director ( Corporate Services)  

Assistant Director (Corporate Services)  

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was 
fundamentally reviewed and updated to reflect the 
financial position of the HRA going into the 
2016/17 financial year, set the strategic plan 
(Bridging the Gap) for managing the HRA 
finances through to 2019-20.   

The MTFS continues to underpin the activity to build 
sustainability in the financial position of the HRA and will 
influence scrutiny of key budget lines as part of the budget 
setting process for 2018-19. 

 

    

4.2  HRA Business Plan in place Assistant Director (Housing) 

Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

 

The HRA 30 year Business Plan is regularly 
reviewed and updated to ensure the Council has a 
sound and realistic plan for managing the financial 
position of the HRA moving forward.  

The HRA Business Plan remains in place.  Activity is currently 
underway to review the council’s HRA business planning 
arrangements to ensure these continue to be fit for purpose. 

    

4.3 Establishment of  Officer  Working     
      Groups to take forward key work streams 

Assistant Director (Housing) 

Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

 

There are a number of options available to the 
council in bridging the gap resulting from 
government legislating on rent reductions.   

Cross-departmental resources continue to focus on areas such 
as resourcing levels, operational processes, financial 
management and budgetary challenge and other ways in which 
to optimise income. 

    

P
age 68



Gravesham Borough Council  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
Page 9 

 
  

Risk 5:  100% Business Rates Retention Scheme   

 
Owner: Management Team 

 
Risk Background: CURRENT UPDATE 
As part of government’s plans to make local government self-sufficient, a commitment has been made to allow the local 
government sector to retain 100% of the business rates that are generated nationally.  Critically, this does not mean that each 
authority will retain the full yield of Business Rates generated within their area; with a national redistributive system of 
Business Rates income continuing as is currently the case.  There is little clarity on the design of the scheme, although recent 
indications from central government suggest a relaxation from the stance that any revised scheme would come with certain 
additional responsibilities for local government.   
 
Furthermore, there have been a number of statutory discounts introduced in recent years for Business Rates payers which 
has reduced the size of the overall national pot of Business Rates income and this, coupled with a sustained transfer of 
funding away from district Councils to upper tier authorities with Social Care responsibilities, could see Gravesham receiving 
a lower share of retained Business Rates income under any new system. With an estimated value of £2.9m in 2017-18, 
growing to around £3.1m by 2020, Business Rates is the second largest funding stream for the council, after Council Tax, 
equivalent to 22% of the council’s net revenue budget. 
 

 
Consequences: 
• Lack of clarity on how the 100% business rates retention scheme will operate in practice. 
• Potential for government to reduce the total funding available through business rates to support other 

departmental funding pressures (social care). 
• Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from the redesigned scheme. 
• Likely to lead to additional responsibilities, with no additional funding. 
• Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for Business Rates payers without 

compensation from central government 
 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

  
 
 

 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer(s) Control Narrative 

 

 
Control Update 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

5.1 Monitoring of the potential impact of 
100% Business Rates Retention on the 
council. 

Director ( Corporate Services)  Ensuring that the council has arrangements in 
place to receive ongoing and up to date 
information about the development of the 
Scheme. 

The Council continues to be part of the Kent Business Rates Pool in 2017-
18.  Monitoring information of the current performance of business rates 
income collection is produced on a monthly basis and modelling of 
expected business rate income for 2017-18 is presented to MT on a 
quarterly basis and presented to Members as part of the budget monitoring 
report.  Such modelling will be used to assess the potential impact of 100% 
Business Rates Retention on the council as details of the proposed scheme 
design are released by central government.  

    

5.2 Proactive arrangements to respond to 
consultations from central government 
departments and agencies. 

Director ( Corporate Services)  Where it is considered the council has the 
opportunity to help shape government policy, 
consultations are responded to formally by the 
council. 

 

Officers continue to engage with the Department for Communities and 
Local Government, professional bodies and other local government 
colleagues to keep abreast of any developments and contribute to 
development of the scheme. 

    

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 6 November 2017
15 November 2017

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Budget Monitoring Report 2017/18 – Quarter Two

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2017/18, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity. 

To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2017/18 financial year 
for the first quarter year period to 30 September 2017 as well as updating Members 
on other key areas of financial performance.

1.2. The Council continues to maintain robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Requiring any recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved 
by Management Team.

Page 71 Agenda Item 8



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two, there is projected underspend for the year of £145,860.  
Main movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the 
year include impacts accruing against staffing budgets and implementation of 
‘Bridging the Gap’ activity.

2.2. The level of Working Balances at year end are projected to be £6.3m, constituted of 
the minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £2m and 
usable Working Balances of £3.0m.

2.3. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net increase in reserves of £0.4m, 
with the level of reserves being £7.1m at start of year and projected to be £7.5m at 
year end.

2.4. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the 
lack of clarity regarding the future of local government funding.  

General Fund (Capital)

2.5. The General Fund Capital Programme for the year is budgeted at £13.9m, with 
spend to the end of Quarter Two of £1.4m.

HRA (Revenue)

2.6. At the end of Quarter Two, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, 
albeit there is a movement in the projected transfer to reserves due to adjustment in 
the funding for the New Build/Acquisition programme. Main movements affecting the 
forecast position against the original budget for the year include savings against 
staffing budgets, increases in rental income and the impact of the disposal of the PV 
Panel stock.

2.7. The level of Working Balances at year end are projected to be £3.0m, at the 
minimum level of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are 
projected to result in a net increase in the General HRA Reserves of £1.1m, with the 
level of reserves being £4.6m at start of year and projected to be £5.7m at year end.

2.8. As with the GF, the significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the 
lack of clarity regarding funding, in particular changes to funding for supported 
housing.  Some positive news was received in the quarter relating to the Prime 
Minister’s announcement at the Conservative Party Conference to return to annual 
social rent increases at the rate of CPI+1% for the five years from 2020.

Housing Capital

2.9. The Housing Capital Programme for the year is budgeted at £14.6m, with spend to 
the end of Quarter Two of £5.8m.

Page 72



3

3. GENERAL FUND (REVENUE)

3.1. Budget 2017/18

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2017/18 is £13,204,070, funded by 
Central Government Grant, retained Non-Domestic Rates, Council Tax and use of 
£1,438,900 Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table below sets out the current assessment of performance against the Original 
Budget by Directorate, based on known variances as at 30 September 2017. 

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2017/18 (£)

Forecast 
2017/18 (£) Variation (£)

Chief Executive 21,980 21,980 0
Communities 3,972,570 3,836,770 (135,800)
Corporate Services 3,552,050 3,567,810 15,760
Environment & Operations 2,486,880 2,497,480 10,600
Housing & Regeneration 2,017,810 1,967,810 (50,000)
Items Carried Forward from 2016-17 0 83,580 83,580
Non-Directorate Specific 1,080,340 1,080,340 0
Interest and Investment Income (461,390) (461,390) 0
Government Grant Funding (386,690) (526,690) (140,000)
Transfers to/ (from) reserves 697,740 572,180 (125,560)
Transfers to/ (from) balances 1,426,000 1,426,000 0
Transactions below the line (1,203,220) (1,077,660) 125,560
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 13,204,070 12,988,210 (215,860)

Business Rates Income (2,942,880) (2,872,880) 70,000
Council Tax Income (6,386,320) (6,386,320) 0
Parish Precepts (298,560) (298,560) 0
New Homes Bonus (1,426,000) (1,426,000) 0
Revenue Support Grant (598,240) (598,240) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund (113,170) (113,170) 0
Use of Working Balances (1,438,900) (1,438,900) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (145,860) (145,860)

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Assessment of Performance to date 2017/18: by Directorate

3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1. There are no significant variances to report.

Page 73



4

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £136K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Acquisition of St John’s House, Dartford: £160k favourable variance – during 
the early part of 2016, the council set aside £10m of its cash balances to acquire 
commercial property that will deliver an ongoing revenue income stream. In February 
2017, the council completed its third acquisition, St John’s House in Dartford, which 
is anticipated to provide an annual rental income stream of £160k.

3.3.2. Legal Shared Services: £87k favourable variance – as part of “Bridging The Gap” 
activity identified within the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) a number of 
shared service options have, and are, being explored. The establishment of a shared 
service with Medway Council for legal services from April 2017 has produced a 
positive effect to the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) of £87k. 

3.3.3. Civic Centre Rental Income: £17k favourable variance – following the recent 
conclusion of leasing arrangements with the NHS to rent part of the first floor and 
basement areas of the Civic Centre, there is projected rental income in 2017/18 of 
£17k. This will increase to around £40k across future years up to and including 
2022/23.

3.3.4. Payroll Shared Services: £10k adverse variance – the Council has also entered 
into an arrangement with Medway Council for shared payroll services. This has 
initially led to a £10k adverse variance, although it should be noted that underspends 
resulting from staff vacancies within HR will more than offset this (staffing is reported 
for the council as a whole rather than within individual services). Additionally, the new 
service is providing non-financial benefits such as greater resilience and self-service 
capabilities and facilitates work now commencing on developing a shared HR service 
between the two councils.

3.3.5. Member Allowances: £49k adverse variance – in October 2016 the Independent 
Remuneration Panel (IRP) was appointed by Council to undertake a review of 
member allowances and met on four occasions between November 2016 and 
February 2017. The recommendation made by the IRP as debated and agreed at Full 
Council in February 2017 and has resulted in a budgetary increase of £49k in the 
current financial year.

3.3.6. Borough Market: £50k adverse variance – Budget setting for 2017/18 took place in 
advance of the reopening of the Borough Market in December 2017 and it was 
therefore not possible for it to be informed by the new pattern of trading.  Whilst 
occupancy of permanent stall units has been encouraging, delays with the 
completion of works and introduction of a café together with a slower than anticipated 
uptake in pop-ups being booked has had an impact on predicted income.  However, it 
is anticipated that the appointment of a new and experienced Market Manager will 
bring knowledge of a wider network of established markets and trader contacts to 
help the next stage of the Market’s establishment.

3.3.7. Altogether Safe Project: neutral variance – grant funding of £76k has been 
secured from the Home Office by the Community Safety team. This funding will target 
the prevention of domestic abuse through a series of programmes delivered by 
external partners e.g. in schools and counsellor advice.  

3.3.8. Other Minor Variances: £19k adverse variance – a number of minor variances 
have been reported within the Communities Directorate; the net effect of these 
variances is £19k.

Page 74



5

3.4. CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £16K ADVERSE VARIANCE
3.4.1. Internal Audit Shared Service Arrangements: £8k adverse variance – as part of 

their professional standards, internal audit services are required to be subject to an 
external quality assessment every five years. The shared service run by Medway 
Council have entered into this process for 2017/18, leading to an overspend of £8k. 

3.4.2. Localised Support for Council Tax (LSCT) – Preceptor Funding: £8k adverse 
variance – in recent years the Council has received £125k from the major preceptors 
as contributions towards administering the LSCT scheme.  Since the original budget 
was set, the Council has received notification that the level of funding will be reduced, 
resulting in an £8k deficit in 2017/18.

3.4.3. Automated Invoicing & Asset Accounting Projects: neutral variance – funding 
from the Corporate Priorities Reserve of £29k has been made available to enhance 
the council’s financial systems. The automated invoicing project involves 
automatically matching supplier invoices submitted electronically to existing 
authorised purchased orders without further need for manual intervention, therefore 
increasing efficiency, accuracy and throughput. Asset accounting is a particularly 
complex and technically demanding area of finance, with records traditionally held on 
manual spreadsheets. Utilising a specifically designed asset accounting module will 
provide greater robustness and resilience to this process and help standardise 
procedures.

3.5. ENVIRONMENT & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE – £11K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Annual Maintenance of closed Churchyards: £5k adverse variance – following 
the Service Review Team (SRT) process analysing Direct Service Organisation 
(DSO) services, a requirement was identified to have a dedicated budget to fund 
maintenance and minor repairs in closed churchyards. The estimated annual 
provision required was £5k; this has been built into the MTFP giving a variance to the 
2017/18 original budget.

3.5.2. Security costs at Fort Gardens: £6k adverse variance – due to various incidents 
of anti-social behaviour over the summer holiday period, extra security measures 
have been required at Fort Gardens leading to an overspend of £6k.

3.5.3. Controlled Parking Zone & Park Map System: neutral variance – within the SRT 
review for Parking, one option identified the need to carry out a review of existing 
Controlled Parking Zone arrangements. Funding from the Decriminalisation and 
Service Review reserves of £77k has been made available to enable this - the work 
involves engaging an external consultant and developing a project plan, as well as 
setting up a Park Map system to manage traffic regulation orders.

3.5.4 Hand Arm Vibration (HAV) System: neutral variance – the Council has a legal 
duty under the Control of Vibration at Work Regulations 2005 to assess and identify 
measures to eliminate or reduce risks from exposure to hand-arm vibration, 
particularly caused by operating hand-held power tools. Hand-arm vibration was 
highlighted as a risk within the quarterly risk register presented to Management Team 
in March 2017, and resultantly funding from the Corporate Priorities Reserve of £20k 
has been released to finance the procurement of a HAV system. 

Page 75



6

3.6. HOUSING & REGENERATION – £50k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.6.1. Private Sector Housing: £50k favourable variance – there is a statutory 
requirement for local authorities to keep housing conditions in their area under review 
in order to identify any actions that may need to be taken. As such, a stock condition 
survey is usually carried out every 5-6 years to comply with this requirement. The 
latest private sector stock survey was carried out in Gravesham in 2015/16, meaning 
that the original budget set aside in 2017/18 is not required. The MTFP has been re-
evaluated to ensure budgetary provision exists at 5-year intervals when the survey 
work will be required again.

3.6.2. Homelessness: neutral variance – as at Quarter Two, £35k of the temporary 
accommodation budget of £50k has been spent / committed. The first half of 2017/18 
has seen a peak in temporary accommodation placements and the team have 
needed to procure temporary accommodation from the private rent sector. Through a 
combination of anticipated placement reductions in Quarter Three and a favourable 
position on the homelessness prevention budget, no overall year-end variation is 
currently projected.

Page 76



7

3.7. ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2016/17 – £84k

3.7.1. The following carried forward items from 2016/17 to 2017/18 were approved by the 
authority’s Section 151 Officer, the Director (Corporate Services) and the Council’s 
Management Team: 

Directorate Service Amount Reason for underspend in 2016/17 Reason for carry-forward request into 2017/18

Communities Community 
Engagement

£500 Budget has been earmarked for a project 
which does not take place until 2017/18.

To support the Chinese New Year event taking 
place in 2017/18.

Communities Community 
Engagement

£2,000 Budget has been earmarked for a project 
which does not take place until 2017/18.

This unspent budget is needed to fund the cost of 
'Our Dancing Town' project in 2017/18.

Communities Economic 
Development

£5,580 Virtual Museum activity requested by 
members.  Work has started but is not 
yet complete.  These funds have been 
set aside to pay for this work.

This project will be completed in 2017/18.  

Communities Economic 
Development

£5,860 This budget was originally set up to 
provide funding for the new Market.  
There have been delays with the Old 
Fish Market which has prevented the 
spending of the budget in 2016/17.

Roll over to meet the cost of new equipment 
relating to the Market which has been delayed 
until 2017/18.

Communities Community 
Engagement

£6,000 Budget has been earmarked for a project 
which does not take place until 2017/18.

Cost to cover Silk River project delivery.  This 
project will take place in 2017/18

Communities Gravesham 
Youth Council

£8,740 Grant funding received in 2016/17, this 
is the remaining balance of funding 
available and has been set aside for the 
Gifted Young Gravesham talent show.

The unspent grant will be used to deliver the 
Gifted Young Gravesham programme which is a 
talent show for young people organised by the 
youth council in October. There are no other 
dedicated funds to finance this activity in 
2017/18.

Communities Woodville £10,000 Part of the Woodville underspend has 
been set aside to fund future projects.

Roll over to fund Woodville 50th celebrations.  
Which will take place in 2017/18.

Communities Community 
Engagement

£11,000 A budget was set aside for Community 
activities, however to date, this has not 
been fully utilised. 

To be rolled forward for use on Community 
Activities taking place in 2017/18.

Communities Woodville £15,000 An underspend has been achieved for 
Woodville in 2016/17 Part of this 
underspend has been allocated by the 
Governance Group for use in 2017/18.

Roll over to fund PA system delivery.  This 
expenditure was agreed at the Governance 
Group.

Corporate Procurement £9,720 Due to the need to evaluate the 
alternative options available for the 
Fleet Leisure site, there has been a delay 
in commissioning the procurement 
support from Strategic  Leisure.

This unspent budget will be used to fund the 
current procurement exercise being undertaken in 
relation to Fleet Leisure.

Housing Regeneration Development 
Management

£3,000 Funds have been earmarked for the Kent 
Design Initiative but the work was not 
completed by the end of the year.

To fund the Kent Design Initiative in 2017/18.

Housing Regeneration Planning £5,930 Due to staff shortages the street signs 
identified for replacement were not 
replaced during 2016/17.

 It is anticipated that further street signs will 
need to be replaced in 2017/18 and therefore this 
budget will be needed in addition to the 2017/18 
original budget.

Housing Services Private Housing £250 In October 2016 there was a Black 
History Month display in the Blake 
Gallery and a contribution was received 
to fund this display.  This contribution 
was not fully spent but has been 
earmarked for a similar display in 
2017/18.  

This unspent contribution will fund a Black history 
month display in October 2017.

Total carry-forward requests £83,580

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2016/17

Page 77



8

3.8. INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – NEUTRAL VARIANCE 

3.8.1. Investment Income: neutral variance – although generating returns from cash 
balances continues to be challenging, officers are not currently anticipating any 
budget variation in this area, though work continues to seek to secure greater returns 
from investment activity.  Following on from funds set aside for the Property 
Acquisition Programme in early 2016, a further £10m was approved at Full Council 
on 27 June 2017; officers are currently exploring options available. Once funds are 
utilised to purchase property, there would be small reductions in income from 
treasury management investments as less cash would be available for placing in 
money markets and deposits. However, the overall benefit to the MTFP of annual 
rental income streams resulting from commercial acquisitions would far outweigh 
investment income forgone (typically, for a balance of £10m on returns of 0.25%, this 
would be £12.5k investment income for a six month period).  The council is also 
currently considering the use of Diversified Income funds as an alternative 
investment option.

3.9. FUNDING STREAMS – £70K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.9.1. Government Grant Funding – Section 31 grants: £140k favourable variance – 
see Business Rates Income section below. 

3.9.2. Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions Below the line (MTFP): net neutral 
variance - under accounting arrangements, the corresponding entries relating to 
reserve-funded expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the 
transfer into the specific service) are shown here. The total of £126k relates to the 
reserve funded items as described within the Corporate Services and Environment & 
Operations Directorate sections.

3.9.3. Business Rates Income: £70k adverse variance – due to the timing constraints of 
the budget-setting process in relation to completion of the statutory NNDR1 form 
return, actual business rates income payable from the collection fund is £70k lower 
than budgeted. However, accompanying Section 31 grants (also subject to the same 
timing constraints), that are received to compensate the Council for various business 
rate reliefs granted, are projected to be £140k higher than the original budget, thus 
giving a net benefit to the MTFP of £70k.

3.10. Other Variances and Risks not reflected in the Current Budget

3.10.1. Vacancy Management – The council’s staffing budget for 2017/18 incorporates a 
savings target of £350k for the year. It is anticipated that this is delivered through 
effective management of vacant posts and the staffing establishment as a whole.  For 
the first six months to September 2017 the actual vacancy saving achieved was 
£231k.

3.10.2. Planning Fees – although currently no year-end variance is projected, income 
received in relation to planning fees in the first half of 2017/18 is around £5k lower 
than budgeted, and £36k lower than for the same period in 2016/17.  This is 
considered to be due to applications that would have previously fallen under the 
council’s remit now being considered by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (and 
the EDC receiving the associated fee), and delays in processing applications due to 
staff turnover and difficult conditions in the recruitment market.   The draft statutory 

Page 78



9

instrument incorporating the ability to increase planning fees by 20% and invest this 
additional income in the planning department has been laid and is now on its 
legislative route through both Houses of Parliament.

3.10.3. Fees and Charges (General) – Income received from fees and charges supports the 
annual budget.  Monitoring to the end of September indicates that income streams 
are generally performing well against budget; monitoring will continue during the year 
with any known variances reported through future budget monitoring reports. 

3.11. Working Balances and Reserves

3.11.1. The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following 
effect upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2016/17 6,162,550 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 1,426,000 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (1,438,900)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2016/17) 145,860 
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2017) 
including Minimum GF Working Balance 6,295,510 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (2,000,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2017) 3,045,510 

Working Balances £

Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

3.11.2. The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to 
assist with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a 
summary of the forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2017 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2018
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Spend to Save Reserve (Inc.Digital Team) 349 --  16 365 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 276 (59) --  217 
Repairs and Renewals Reserve 484 --  100 584 
Planning Policy Reserve 327 --  100 427 
Leisure Centres Reserve 656 (153) 380 883 
Decriminalisation Reserve 49 (49) --  --  
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 103 (18) 12 97 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) Reserve 100 (100) --  --  
Elections Reserve 89 --  17 106 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 10 --  75 85 

 DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 112 (105) 107 114 
 Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 338 --  222 560 
 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500 --  --  500 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 245 --  --  245 
Woodville Repairs Reserve --  --  45 45 

 GBC Match Funding CCF - Borough Market Reserve 40 (40) --  --  
 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 --  --  150 
 Service Review Reserve 300 (28) --  272 
 Playgrounds Reserve 100 --  --  100 
 Revenue Grants not yet applied 2,833 (131) --  2,702 

Total 7,061 (683) 1,074 7,452 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

Page 79



10

3.11.3. Significant or new approved use of reserves include:

3.11.4. Corporate Priorities Reserve – £29k to enhance financial systems – automated 
creditor payments & asset accounting (Corporate Services), and £20k to procure a 
Hand Arm Vibration system (Environment & Operations).

3.11.5. Decriminalisation Reserve – £49k to part-finance a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) 
review as identified within the Service Review process (Environment & Operations).

3.11.6. Service Review Reserve – £28k to part finance the CPZ review described above, 
and also a Park Map System which manages traffic regulation orders (Environment & 
Operations).

3.11.7. Revenue Grants not yet applied – As at quarter two, £131k has been released to 
revenue. Of this £127k relates to costs associated with the new domestic waste 
collection scheme such as promotion and distribution.

3.12. Medium Term Financial Planning

3.12.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government 
grants and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the 
Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest 
version of the Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix 
Two.

3.12.2 Government issued consultation on the 2018/19 Local Government Finance 
Settlement in September 2017.  Within this, government are considering changes to 
the baseline figure used to calculate future New Homes Bonus allocations and linking 
future payments to the performance of Planning Departments.  Government are also 
proposing council tax referendum principles which permit shire district councils to 
increase council tax of less than 2% or up to and included £5, whichever is higher.  
The current MTFP reflects the council increasing council tax by £5 in 2018/19.  

3.12.3 Government have also launched a prospectus inviting local authorities to submit 
proposals to pilot 100% business rates retention in 2018/19.  Consideration is being 
given to a Kent bid for Pilot Status.  Successful bids are expected to be announced at 
the same time as the provisional settlement (i.e. December).

3.12.4 There continues to be uncertainty around the wider agenda of local government 
funding reform.

3.12.5 Attention is now focused on the Autumn Budget scheduled for 22 November, albeit 
no major changes to fiscal policy are expected.

Page 80



11

4 GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Scheme

2017/18 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2017/18 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2017/18 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2017/18 
Actual 

Expenditure 
Qtr 2                  

£
Variance           

£
Sports Pitches 300,000 0 300,000 0 300,000
Redevelopment of former Fleet Leisure Site 2,300,000 (2,300,000) 0 0 0
Customer Contact Platform 6,510 0 6,510 4,670 1,840
Young Persons Champion 15,820 0 15,820 0 15,820
Older Persons Champion 12,770 0 12,770 600 12,170
Essential Repairs to Buildings 50,000 225,000 275,000 115,270 159,730
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 22,850 0 22,850 1,270 21,580
Local Growth Fund Projects (LEP Funded) 0 57,860 57,860 23,860 34,000
Parrock St Car Park - Toilet Block (Provision) 34,220 0 34,220 0 34,220
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 242,330 47,600 289,930 84,550 205,380
Decrim Account - hardware and software 15,010 0 15,010 15,100 (90)
Refuse Vehicles - Waste Collection Scheme 675,000 0 675,000 670,640 4,360
Wheeled Bins - Waste Collection Scheme 462,000 0 462,000 453,840 8,160
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation Accommodation 0 1,500,000 1,500,000 0 1,500,000
Replacement Playground Programme 0 100,000 100,000 0 100,000
Revs and Bens Firmstep Development Software 0 65,000 65,000 0 65,000
Property Acquisition Programme 0 10,000,000 10,000,000 0 10,000,000
Market Refurbishment 0 75,350 75,350 0 75,350

4,136,510 9,770,810 13,907,320 1,369,800 12,537,520

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2017/18

4.1 The approved General Fund Capital Programme for 2017/18 is largely a continuation 
of the schemes approved in 2017/18 and previous years.  In Quarter 2 the 2017/18 
working budget has been adjusted for the below projects:

 Fleet Leisure – on 12 June 2017, Cabinet agreed that the arrangements to develop 
the land at the site would be at no further cost the council.  The Council is seeking 
expressions of interest from suitable organisations for the development of the site for 
sport and leisure purposes and has now advertised this opportunity through the Kent 
Business Portal and with the wider European community. This project has therefore 
been removed from the capital programme.

 Town Pier remedial works – Emergency works are required to the supporting 
timbers of the Pier.  The tenant is liable for these works, and the cost to the council is 
therefore expected to be reimbursed in full.

 Market Refurbishment - Completion and handover of the main Market Hall took 
place on 25 November 2016. Handover of the Old Fish Market works took place in 
March 2017.  Post completion of the refurbishment, there has been a lengthy 
negotiation towards agreeing the final account.  The contractor, Faithdean, was 
initially slow to submit the detail and information in support of their view on the final 
account and with that view differing significantly from that of the council’s appointed 
Quantity Surveyor, the negotiations have been drawn out.  The Quantity Surveyor 
believes that it would be prudent to make an offer to Faithdean to settle the account.  
If accepted, the final account for the Market capital scheme will exceed the last 
reported budget by £75,350.  The capital budget has been amended to include this 
settlement and the additional cost will be met from match funding which has been 
held for the project and existing capital grants.

Page 81



12

An update on each of the General Fund capital schemes is provided below:

4.1.1 Customer Contact Platform – In September training on the ‘planetpress’ system 
was held in conjunction with Tonbridge and Malling council with two officers from 
Gravesham attending and costs being equally shared between the authorities. This 
training was to provide the authority with the option to implement paperless 
notifications to customers by their online account. There currently remains a small 
underspend on the budget which could be used to carry out further integration to the 
IDOX uniform system. The feasibility of this is currently being explored.

4.1.2 Younger and Older Persons Champion – the budget for a number of projects was 
carried forward from 2016/17.  An order has now been placed for the Rosherville Play 
Equipment, which will be installed around January/February 2018.  A match-funding 
project has been established with Age UK to fund refurbishment of the bathroom at 
their centre in Gravesend although no expenditure has been incurred yet.  The work 
for the Riverside Walking trail is now complete with payment due to be processed 
shortly.  A payment has been made for furniture for The Golden Girls.

4.1.3 Essential Repairs to Buildings – some additional works to the window 
refurbishment contract have needed to be incorporated in order to leave sliding doors 
fully operational. To date the total paid is £75,165, and with works are nearing 
completion, the project is expected to be on budget, circa £100,000.  Last financial 
year £284,000 was approved by management team to cover the concrete repairs and 
redecoration of the Civic Centre.  As of writing, £258,400 has been paid to the 
contractor.   The final account is currently being calculated, but the consultant has 
identified a number of queries which officers are currently awaiting resolution of, so 
there is currently no update upon the final contract sum.  The consultant fees for the 
above concrete repairs were also paid from the capital programme and this position 
remains unchanged - to date £7,500 of the £10,500 set aside has been paid, with no 
further payments being processed until the final account has been settled. 

4.1.4 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements - The new cemetery software has now been    
ordered and installation is currently underway.

4.1.5 Local Enterprise Partnership Projects (LEP Funded) – Wayfinding is one of the 
schemes funded by the ‘Local Sustainable Transport Fund’ (LSTF) from the Local 
Enterprise Partnership which KCC bid for and manages.  These schemes contribute 
towards the provision and enhancement of sustainable forms of transport.  The 
Wayfinding scheme is funded 100% by the LSTF and is intended to help visitors who 
are unfamiliar with the town find their way around and to show the range of 
attractions on offer.  It also provides historical and cultural information which is of 
interest to both new visitors and local residents.  Following the successful 
implementation of Phase 1 last year, a further £50,000 has been awarded for the 
implementation of a second phase in the current year.  The consultant who 
developed the initial strategy and phase for Gravesham has been appointed to 
deliver this year’s works which will extend the pedestrian signing to and from 
Windmill Hill and Canal Basin.   

4.1.6 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) - The vehicles required for the coming year have 
been identified and orders have been placed.  The working budget has been 
adjusted to reflect the 2017/18 need for replacement of vehicles; there are sufficient 
funds available to fund this increase in the DSO Fleet replacement reserve.

4.1.7 Decriminalisation – Hardware and software has been purchased, and officers are in 
the final phases of testing ready for go-live.  

Page 82



13

4.1.8 Waste Collection Scheme - During Quarter Two the latest phase of the bin roll out 
was completed, which included the payment of the wheelie bins and refuse vehicles.

4.1.9 Ebbsfleet Development Corporation Accommodation - Whilst both GBC and the 
EDC remain committed to the delivery of office accommodation at the Brookvale 
Depot site, the EDC is currently being subjected to a cyclical Tailored Review by the 
Communities and Local Government Department.  As this review could adjust the 
strategic direction and/or make-up of the EDC, the accommodation project is 
progressing at a slower pace than was previously the case to ensure that any 
outcomes from the review can be taken into account when commissioning the 
construction phase of the development.

4.2 Replacement Playground Programme – appropriate uses for the reserve are 
currently being considered; it is intended that project(s) funded from the reserve will be 
installed over the winter period to ensure minimum disruption to users.

4.2.1 Revenues and Benefits Digital Platform – An order has been placed for the 
Revenue & Benefits shared service software.

4.2.2 Property Acquisition Programme – In June 2017, Full Council gave approval for a 
further £10m of investment balances to be made available for purchases under the 
council’s existing Property Acquisition Strategy.  Activity has commenced to identify 
suitable opportunities for consideration by the Property Acquisitions Cross Party 
Working Group.

4.3 Capital Resources

4.3.1 The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in the future:

General Fund Capital Resources

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2017                 
£

Projected 
Income        
2017/18                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2017/18                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2018           
£

Capital Receipts (1,109,730) (6,670) 501,440 (614,960)
S106 Capital Contributions (198,860) 0 0 (198,860)
Capital Grants unapplied (1,256,830) 0 589,970 (666,860)
Total Capital Resources (2,565,420) (6,670) 1,091,410 (1,480,680)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2017/18

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2017                 
£

Projected 
Income        
2017/18                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2017/18              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2018              
£

Performance Reward Grant (127,930) 0 15,010 (112,920)
Public Realm Improvement & Maint Funds (89,170) 0 34,220 (54,950)
Disabled Facilities Grants (377,500) 0 377,500 0
Transport Quarter Stage 3 (500,150) 0 155,380 (344,770)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Coastal Communities Market Capital (10,000) 0 0 (10,000)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (7,860) 0 7,860 0
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (1,256,830) 0 589,970 (666,860)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2017/18

Page 83



4.3.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2017/18                  

£

Purpose of S106

Springhead Recreation (16,500) 0 0 (16,500)
One off payment to enable a water main to be laid across council land to connect 
with Housing Association properties in the area.

Durndale Farm (33,766) 0 0 (33,766)

This sum was received around 1990 and was originally earmarked to replace a 
fence adjacent to the A2 used as a noise reduction feature. Planning do not have 
a record of this S106 so no further information is available.

Land of Landseer Avenue (74,101) 0 0 (74,101)

Commuted Sum to be used for the maintenance of grounds and amenity areas, 
replacement of furniture fittings and replacement of Buffalo Fence at Landseer 
Avenue.

Leith Park Road Development 0 (5,680) 0 (5,680)

Originally paid by developer in lieu of providing affordable housing units at Leith 
Park Road. Originally received £310,000.  Balance of monies need to be spent by 
June 2017.  This has now been used and will be drawn down in 2017/18.

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,594) 0 0 (2,594)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.
Springhead Quarter 0 (250,000) 0 (250,000) Provision or major upgrade of affordable housing.

Whitehill Road Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (19,900) 0 0 (19,900)
Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000, Air Quality Contribution 
£2,900

Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution
Invicta House 0 0 (4,695) (4,695) Strategic Access Management and Monitoring contribution.

SAMM Contribution 0 0 (16,117) (16,117)

The EU Directive regarding Bird Disturbance on the North Kent Marshes requires 
us to collect these monies from developers of new dwellings.  They are to be held 
alongside, but separate from normal s106 monies.

Total S106 Contributions (198,861) (255,680) (101,812) (556,352)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2017/18

P
age 84



5 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

5.1 Budget 2017-18

5.1.1 The table below sets out the current assessment of performance against the Original 
Budget for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on known variances to 
30 September 2017.

5.1.2 Whilst the budgeted transfer from reserves has not changed to that which was 
presented as part of the budget setting papers, it should be noted there has been 
some minor amendments to the original budget split across the various headings.  
This is as a result of the ongoing work undertaken by Finance to develop the HRA 
budget as reported to the Finance and Audit Committee on 13 June 2017.

5.1.3 There is a net total positive variance is £5.0 million at the end of Quarter Two.

Description
Original 
Budget 

2017/18 (£)

Forecast 
2017/18 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,437,640 5,282,290 (155,350)
Repairs and Maintenance 8,020,580 8,001,580 (19,000)
Depreciation 5,968,130 6,619,310 651,180
Supporting People Fund - Expenditure 759,770 759,770 0
Capital Finance 11,801,770 6,194,010 (5,607,760)
Sub Total Expenditure 31,987,890 26,856,960 (5,130,930)
Rents of Dwellings (25,473,500) (25,480,870) (7,370)
Other Rental Income (23,210) (23,210) 0
Service Charges (1,314,400) (1,314,400) 0
Non Dwelling Income (257,400) (257,400) 0
Supporting People Fund -Service Charge Income (295,300) (295,300) 0
Supporting People Fund - Grant (266,820) (266,820) 0
Other Income (457,740) (313,740) 144,000
Sub Total Income (28,088,370) (27,951,740) 136,630
Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,899,520) 1,094,780 4,994,300
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 9: Housing Revenue Account Projected Outturn 2017/18

5.2 Reported Variances

5.2.1 Vacancy Management: £115k favourable variance – the staffing budget for 
2017/18 incorporates a savings target of £100,000 for the year.  It is anticipated that 
this is delivered through effective management of vacant posts and the staffing 
establishment as a whole.  For the six months to September 2017 the actual vacancy 
saving achieved was £215k.  Linked to this, a staffing review has been conducted in 
the Repairs & Maintenance Team following the implementation of the One Serve 
system as this has resulted in a change in working practices.  Savings against 
salaries in the team are expected and will be reported as part of Quarter Three 
monitoring after further work has been undertaken.

5.2.2 PV Panels: £163k net adverse variance – following the decision by Cabinet in 
January 2017, officers have been progressing the sale of the PV Panels to Empower 

Page 85



16

Community Management LLP.  The sale was originally expected to complete in 
August, however is now expected to complete in October.  This capital receipt is 
shown in the Capital Resources table (Table 14).  There are various impacts on the 
HRA budget including a saving of £19,000 against the PV Panel repair budget, a loss 
of £185,000 against the FIT income budget and an additional £3,000 for interest on 
HRA balances.

5.2.3 Caretaker Rents: £42k favourable variance – following the restructure of the 
Sheltered Housing elements of the Housing department there is a resulting 
favourable saving of £42,453.

5.2.4 Depreciation: £651k adverse variance – the depreciation charge in the original 
budget build was based on the 2016/17 actual charge derived from the value of the 
council’s housing stock at that time.  However, during year end the housing stock 
was revalued which resulted in an increase in valuation of 8.5% and a social housing 
factor adjustment of 1%.  This has resulted in a higher depreciation charge for 
2017/18 for housing stock.  The depreciation charge is recycled through the Major 
Repairs Reserve and used as a funding source for future capital works.

5.2.5 Other Income: £38k favourable variance – In 2016/17 two grants were received 
from Kent Fire towards sprinkler work at Carl Ekman House and The Hive.  Works on 
Carl Ekman House were completed in 2016/17 but the works at the Hive are to be 
completed in 2017/18.  The grant was rolled forward into this financial year to cover 
the cost of the capital works.

5.2.6 Capital Finance: £5.34m favourable variance – as part of the ongoing work to 
review the HRA budgets, clarification has been sought on the application of RTB 
Debt Repayment Reserve.  Part of the capital receipt generated from the sale of 
Council Houses has been permitted to be set aside for the repayment of debt or to be 
used in the funding of the new build programme.  Given it is a capital funding 
resources, it is preferable to use this to part fund the new build works as opposed to 
using a revenue contribution or a revenue reserve.  In the original budget, there was 
a revenue contribution of £5,383,300 but given the proposed switch in funding, this is 
to been removed.

Works to the sprinkler systems at Carl Ekman House and The Hive will increase the 
capital financing requirement by £38k, though this is offset by the grant funding from 
Kent Fire referenced in the paragraph above.

5.2.7 Interest Paid: £262k favourable variance – the HRA’s budgeted proportion of the 
authority’s total interest charges was based on an assumption that additional debt 
would be taken on during 2016/17.  As this was not the case there is an anticipated 
saving of £262,470.

5.2.8 Other Minor Variances: £11k favourable variance – a number of minor variances 
have been reported within the Housing Revenue Account; the net effect of these 
variances is £11k.

5.3 Other Variances and Risks not reflected in the Current Budget

5.3.1 At the Conservative Party Conference, the Prime Minister gave a keynote speech 
which included several announcements around the direction of future housing policy.  
In particular, the Prime Minister announced the intention to relax the current policy of 
rent reductions, with rents instead increasing by CPI +1% for the five years after 
2020.

Page 86



17

5.4 Working Balances and Reserves

5.4.1 The variances against the Original Budget within Sections 4.2 have the following 
effect upon the Housing Revenue Account working balances:

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2016/17 3,000,000
Variances per budget report 1,094,780
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2017) 
including minimum HRA Working Balance 4,094,780

Less: Transfer to HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (1,094,780)
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 June 2017) 3,000,000

Table 10: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

5.4.2 The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of 
the forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

HRA Specific Reserves
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2017

Forecast         
Use of Reserve 

(Expenditure)

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income)

Forecast 
Balance              

31/03/2018
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (4,620) 0 (1,095) (5,715)
Total (4,620) 0 (1,095) (5,715)

Table 11: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

5.5 HRA Business Plan

5.5.1 The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into 
account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants 
and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget 
resulting from Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest version of the 
HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Three.

Page 87



18

6 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

6.1 The Housing Capital programme for 2017/18 totals £14,648,520 of which 
£13,493,020 relates to HRA capital schemes and £1,155,500 relates to non-HRA 
capital schemes.

6.2 These budgets include £338,480 and £377,500, respectively that have been carried 
forward from 2016/17.  The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on the minimum 
Decent Homes Standard for the Council’s stock, with £5,464,540 earmarked for this 
purpose in 2017/18.  The council have continued its commitment to build new homes 
with £6,039,310 allocated for this purpose.

Ref 
No: Project  Budget 2017-18 

(£) Expenditure (£) Variation (£)

A Decent Homes 5,464,540 2,143,650 (3,320,890)
B Health & Safety 1,426,630 628,940 (797,690)
C Minor / Other Works 562,540 205,880 (356,660)
D New Build 6,039,310 2,345,140 (3,694,170)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 13,493,020 5,323,610 (8,169,410)
E Disabled Facilities Grant 1,131,500 316,680 (814,820)
F Southfield Shaw Capital Works 24,000 62,780 38,780
G Op Services Scheduling System 0 59,810 59,810

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 14,648,520 5,762,880 (8,885,640)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 12: Housing Capital Programme 2017/18

6.3 Several contracts ended on 31 March 2016 and were re-tendered with new 
contractors being appointed in accordance with the framework.  This resulted in a 
minor delay in the development of the work programmes and agreeing the final 
specifications.  The works undertaken in Q2 are details below: 

 Decent Homes (Ref A) - the following works have already been completed or 
are in progress: 

o 24 kitchen replacements have been completed, with another nine in 
progress and an additional 44 planned

o 6 bathrooms have been replaced, with another 22 planned

o 36 properties have had  window/door replacements with a further 46 
either in progress or planned

o Energy Efficiency - 208 central heating systems were installed and 
another 39 are in progress/planned

o Electrical works – 413 electrical tests have been completed and where 
applicable, remedial works have been carried out, including upgrades 
to consumer units and rewiring

Across the Decent Homes programme, savings of £415k are expected to be 
achieved as at the end of September 2017.  Schemes within the Decent 
Homes Programme that are contributing to this saving are £75k on External 
Wall Insulation, £100k on the Roofing Programme, £40k on Gravesham and 
Homemead Heating and £200k on Energy Efficiency Improvements.  

Page 88



19

 Health And Safety (Ref B) - the following works have been completed:

o Phase one of the project has been completed on the installation of fire 
sprinkler system at 21-62 The Hive  with phase two of the project is 
underway

A report in relation to the Structural Repairs Programme has been 
commissioned and therefore works cannot be planned until it has been 
completed.  The savings this will generate against the £500k budget will be 
confirmed as part of the Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring Report.

 Minor/Other Works (Ref C) - the following works have been completed:

o Disabled Adaptations - 11 properties had level access showers/ wet 
rooms installed and another 51 are planned

o Seven lifts were installed

6.4 The authority has signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To 
Buy (RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of 
additional social housing (Ref D).

o The Tooley Street scheme of two units is now complete. 

o The Farlow Close scheme comprising of five units is complete with 
handover of the final two units due on 20 October.

o Following the tender process, the successful contractor has been 
appointed to the construction of Packham Road (ten units) and they 
are now on site.  Demolition of existing buildings on site has 
commenced.

o The council has purchased sixteen properties from the market with 
offers accepted on a further seven properties.

o Planning permission has been received to refurbish the former Kings 
Farm Estate Office and structural investigations have commenced.  An 
invitation will be issued next month.

o The planning application for a scheme comprising of 17 new homes on 
Council owned land at St Hilda’s Way has been agreed.

o It is anticipated that a planning application for the redevelopment of 
Whitehill will be submitted next month.

6.5 The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred 
in 2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2017, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £3,212,880.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects as this can either be used 
to repay debt or finance the capital programme.  This will ensure that the revenue 
surplus being generated can be moved to a general HRA reserve available for future 
use against either revenue or capital and that monies are only borrowed once all 
available resources have been utilised.

Page 89



20

6.6 Table 13 below summarises the one for receipts retained from the sale of Right To 
Buy properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to 
deliver the New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be 
delivered to avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

2012-13 £ £ £ £

Q1 0 0 0 0
Q2 179,970 419,920 599,890 599,890 30-Sep-15
Q3 178,400 416,260 594,660 1,194,540 31-Dec-15
Q4 191,020 445,720 636,740 1,831,280 31-Mar-16
2013-14
Q1 232,960 543,570 776,530 2,607,810 30-Jun-16
Q2 339,800 792,870 1,132,670 3,740,490 30-Sep-16
Q3 125,430 292,660 418,090 4,158,580 31-Dec-16
Q4 270,950 632,220 903,180 5,061,760 31-Mar-17
2014-15
Q1 174,950 408,210 583,150 5,644,910 30-Jun-17
Q2 443,310 1,034,390 1,477,700 7,122,600 30-Sep-17
Q3 327,760 764,760 1,092,520 8,215,120 31-Dec-17
Q4 865,780 2,020,160 2,885,950 11,101,070 31-Mar-18
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,710 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 515,670 1,203,230 1,718,890 22,961,950 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,132,450 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,017 987,167 25,119,600 30-Sep-20
Total 7,535,890 17,583,717 25,119,617

Table 13: New Build 

Page 90



21

6.7 Disabled Facility Grants (Ref G) –The secondment of the Occupational Therapist 
from Kent County Council continues to work well and referrals are being processed in 
a timely manner. Following initial teething problems in setting up the trial 
arrangement with Swale Borough Council, all cases are also now being progressed 
in a timely manner.

There are currently 137 cases live cases being worked on by the department. Of 
these, 61 cases have had grants approved and 76 cases are being worked on and 
are yet to reach the approval stage, with progress being made on each one of those 
cases. Including the rolled over amount of £377,495 from 2016 / 17, total DFG 
budget for the current year is £1,131,500. The combined total expenditure and 
committed funds to date is £637,628 and with the progress on the outstanding cases, 
the remaining budget of £493,872 is expected to be fully expended / committed by 
the end of 2017 / 18. 

6.8 Capital Resources

6.8.1 The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future:

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2017 (£)

Projected 
Income 

2017/18 (£)

Use of 
Funding 

2017/18 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2018 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (961,720) (253,000) 24,000 (1,190,720)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (12,520) 0 0 (12,520)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (estimated) 0 (3,573,000) 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (1,476,900) (6,430,410) 7,328,710 (578,600)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (244,340) (180,240) 0 (424,580)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,354,970) (1,016,620) 1,811,800 (4,559,790)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (3,212,880) (814,400) 3,899,510 (127,770)
Disabled Facility Grants (377,500) (754,010) 1,131,500 0
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (12,406,830) (13,021,680) 14,195,520 (11,232,980)

Table 14 HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2017/18

Page 91



22

7 TREASURY MANAGEMENT

7.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 21 February Full Council approved the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement for 2017/18, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual 
Investment Strategy is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s 
investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield
7.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 

budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management 
activity to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months.

7.3 A full list of internally managed investments held by the Council at 30 September 2017 
can be found at Appendix 4 of this report.

7.4 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Capita Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management :

7.4.1.1 After the UK economy showed strong growth in 2016, growth in 2017 
has been disappointingly weak; quarter 1 came in at only +0.3% (+1.7% y/y) 
and quarter 2 was +0.3% (+1.5% y/y) which meant that growth in the first half 
of 2017 was the slowest for the first half of any year since 2012.  The main 
reason for this has been the sharp increase in inflation, caused by the 
devaluation of sterling after the referendum, feeding increases in the cost of 
imports into the economy.  This has caused, in turn, a reduction in consumer 
disposable income and spending power and so the services sector of the 
economy, accounting for around 75% of GDP, has seen weak growth as 
consumers cut back on their expenditure. However, more recently there have 
been encouraging statistics from the manufacturing sector which is seeing 
strong growth, particularly as a result of increased demand for exports. It has 
helped that growth in the EU, our main trading partner, has improved 
significantly over the last year.  However, this sector only accounts for around 
11% of GDP so expansion in this sector will have a much more muted effect 
on the average total GDP growth figure for the UK economy as a whole.

7.4.1.2 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting of 14 September 2017 
surprised markets and forecasters by suddenly switching to a much more 
aggressive tone in terms of its words around warning that Bank Rate will need 
to rise. The Bank of England Inflation Reports during 2017 have clearly 
flagged up that they expected CPI inflation to peak at just under 3% in 2017, 
before falling back to near to its target rate of 2% in two years time. Inflation 
actually came in at 2.9% in August, (this data was released on 12 
September), and so the Bank revised its forecast for the peak to over 3% at 
the 14 September meeting MPC.  This marginal revision can hardly justify 
why the MPC became so aggressive with its wording; rather, the focus was on 
an emerging view that with unemployment falling to only 4.3%, the lowest 
level since 1975, and improvements in productivity being so weak, that the 
amount of spare capacity in the economy was significantly diminishing 
towards a point at which they now needed to take action.  In addition, the 
MPC took a more tolerant view of low wage inflation as this now looks like a 

Page 92



23

common factor in nearly all western economies as a result of increasing 
globalisation.  This effectively means that the UK labour faces competition 
from overseas labour e.g. in outsourcing work to third world countries, and 
this therefore depresses the negotiating power of UK labour. However, the 
Bank was also concerned that the withdrawal of the UK from the EU would 
effectively lead to a decrease in such globalisation pressures in the UK, and 
so would be inflationary over the next few years.

7.4.1.3 It therefore looks very likely that the MPC will increase Bank Rate to 0.5% in 
November or, if not, in February 2018.  The big question after that will be 
whether this will be a one off increase or the start of a slow, but regular, 
increase in Bank Rate. As at the start of October, short sterling rates are 
indicating that financial markets do not expect a second increase until May 
2018 with a third increase in November 2019.  However, some forecasters are 
flagging up that they expect growth to improve significantly in 2017 and into 
2018, as the fall in inflation will bring to an end the negative impact on 
consumer spending power while a strong export performance will compensate 
for weak services sector growth.  If this scenario were to materialise, then the 
MPC would have added reason to embark on a series of slow but gradual 
increases in Bank Rate during 2018. While there is so much uncertainty 
around the Brexit negotiations, consumer confidence, and business 
confidence to spend on investing, it is far too early to be confident about how 
the next two years will pan out

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 93



24

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX I 

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk 
Assessment

The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2017/18 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective Four: Sound and self-sufficient council

Crime and 
Disorder

No direct implications

Digital and 
website 
implications

No direct implications

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

No direct implications

Page 94



25

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



BMR Q2 - September 2017 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 8,499,490 8,101,790 8,248,640 8,440,450 8,651,430 8,867,520 9,088,940 9,315,910 9,548,560 9,787,000 9,787,280 

AAB3 Vacancy rate/turnover (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 8,149,490 7,751,790 7,898,640 8,090,450 8,301,430 8,517,520 8,738,940 8,965,910 9,198,560 9,437,000 9,437,280 

Temporary Staff 148,290 131,090 114,770 116,490 119,320 122,210 125,180 128,210 131,320 134,020 134,020 

Wages 109,240 113,400 111,040 232,870 115,400 117,980 120,620 243,340 126,120 128,870 128,870 

AAB2 Pension and National Insurance Contributions 3,100,640 3,011,730 3,065,210 3,145,080 3,194,110 3,245,120 3,296,700 3,349,760 3,404,080 3,459,810 3,459,900 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 419,240 427,190 436,770 438,600 424,210 443,300 423,400 426,050 428,770 431,550 431,550 

Running Expenses 8,475,610 9,437,370 9,088,050 9,176,210 9,385,020 9,608,840 9,905,320 10,139,240 10,325,210 10,363,880 10,336,510 

Capital Financing 780,900 780,900 755,760 764,630 563,180 553,280 555,920 546,510 570,520 570,520 570,520 

INCOME

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330) (77,330)

Recharges to Other Accounts (159,590) (183,270) (215,130) (215,750) (216,410) (217,090) (217,780) (219,990) (220,650) (221,570) (222,310)

Other Government Grants (1,170,270) (1,558,860) (1,396,070) (1,246,670) (1,170,270) (1,170,270) (1,170,270) (1,170,270) (1,170,290) (1,170,290) (1,170,290)

Investment Income (461,390) (461,390) (431,470) (454,520) (432,380) (419,380) (483,110) (425,500) --   --   --   

Fees & Charges (6,638,250) (6,644,910) (6,502,050) (6,488,330) (6,242,600) (6,236,920) (6,242,020) (6,240,930) (6,235,830) (6,235,150) (6,235,150)

Rental Income (1,872,810) (2,000,000) (2,206,160) (2,218,750) (2,218,750) (2,218,750) (2,218,750) (2,175,490) (2,175,490) (2,175,490) (2,175,490)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves 570,740 430,940 747,500 608,540 493,680 490,180 475,680 373,680 486,680 486,680 486,680 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 1,426,000 1,426,000 690,000 535,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 

Parish Precepts 298,560 298,560 298,560 298,560 298,560 298,560 298,560 298,560 298,560 298,560 298,560 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 13,204,070 12,988,210 12,483,090 12,810,080 13,070,170 13,590,250 14,064,060 14,694,750 15,623,230 15,964,060 15,936,320 

Business Rates Income (2,942,880) (2,872,880) (3,035,100) (3,137,950) (3,204,360) (3,272,100) (3,341,200) (3,411,680) (3,483,580) (3,483,580) (3,483,580)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) (601,360) (601,360) (196,260) 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) 3,120 3,120 1,040 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (1,426,000) (1,426,000) (690,000) (535,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000)

Council Tax Income (6,386,320) (6,386,320) (6,592,290) (6,800,500) (6,978,050) (7,160,220) (7,347,420) (7,539,370) (7,736,140) (7,938,140) (8,145,460)

Parish Precepts (298,560) (298,560) (298,560) (298,560) (298,560) (298,560) (298,560) (298,560) (298,560) (298,560) (298,560)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund (113,170) (113,170) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £2m (1,438,900) (1,438,900) (1,671,920) (2,178,620) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000)

--   (145,860) --   103,160 1,976,910 2,247,080 2,464,590 2,832,850 3,492,660 3,631,490 3,396,430 

--   --   --   103,160 1,873,750 270,170 217,510 368,260 659,810 138,830 (235,060)

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2017-18

Projected 

2019-20

Projected 

2018-19

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2023-24

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2020-21

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2026-27

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Original 

2017-18

P
age 97



BMR Q2 - September 2017 Appendix 2

2017-18      

Original

2017-18      

Projected

2018-19      

Original

2019-20      

Original

2020-21      

Original

2021-22      

Original

2022-23      

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 4,492,580 4,492,580 4,625,540 3,643,620 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

New Homes Bonus 1,426,000 1,426,000 690,000 535,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 428,000 428,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF (1,438,900) (1,438,900) (1,671,920) (2,178,620) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000) (428,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 4,479,680 4,479,680 3,643,620 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - 145,860 - (103,160) (1,976,910) (2,247,080) (2,464,590) (2,832,850) (3,492,660) (3,631,490) (3,396,430)

GF Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 4,479,680 4,625,540 3,643,620 1,896,840 (80,070) (2,327,150) (4,791,741) (7,624,591) (11,117,251) (14,748,741) (18,145,171)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 348,650 364,630 373,870 375,970 378,070 380,170 382,270 384,370 386,470 388,570 390,670

Corporate Priorities Reserve 276,000 216,730 216,730 216,730 216,730 216,730 216,730 216,730 216,730 216,730 216,730

Repairs & Renewals Reserve 483,710 583,710 683,710 783,710 883,710 983,710 1,083,710 1,183,710 1,283,710 1,383,710 1,483,710

Planning Policy Reserve 327,760 427,760 477,760 527,760 577,760 627,760 677,760 727,760 777,760 827,760 877,760

Leisure Centres Reserve 656,370 882,740 1,104,610 1,307,660 1,263,310 1,218,960 1,174,610 1,130,260 1,085,910 1,041,560 997,210

Decriminalisation (General) 48,980 - - - - - - - - - -

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 103,480 97,980 103,480 115,980 128,480 137,480 131,980 144,480 149,980 155,480 160,980

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 100,000 - - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 89,070 106,530 123,990 21,450 51,450 81,450 111,450 21,450 51,450 81,450 111,450

IT Infrastructure Reserve 9,730 84,730 159,730 234,730 309,730 384,730 459,730 534,730 609,730 684,730 759,730

GBC Match Funding-Borough Market Reserve 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 112,380 114,110 115,840 117,570 119,300 121,030 122,760 124,490 126,220 127,950 129,680

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 337,660 559,010 780,360 1,001,710 1,223,060 1,444,410 1,665,760 1,887,110 2,108,460 2,329,810 2,551,160

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 499,990 499,990 499,990 499,990 499,990 499,990 499,990 499,990 499,990 499,990 499,990

Growth Fund Reserve 245,310 245,310 245,310 245,310 245,310 245,310 245,310 245,310 245,310 245,310 245,310

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000

Service Review Reserve 299,610 272,060 272,060 272,060 272,060 272,060 272,060 272,060 272,060 272,060 272,060

Playgrounds Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

Woodville Repairs Reserve - 45,350 90,700 136,050 181,400 226,750 272,100 317,450 362,800 408,150 453,500

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 8,708,380 9,416,180 9,181,760 8,043,520 6,560,290 4,803,390 2,814,479 355,309 (2,650,671) (5,795,481) (8,705,231)

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000

INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increase of 2.65% in 17-18, then £5 annually to 2019-20, 2% thereafter.  Council Tax Base growth of 2.8% in 2017-18, 0.60% annually from 2018-19.

Growth in salaries of 1% in 2017-18, and 2% annually thereafter. Includes the apprenticeship levy from 2017-18.

RSG as per Multi-year settlement offer.  NHB Scheme payments as per revised scheme announced December 2016.

Business Rates income based on actual projected income to be received, net of S31 Grants for busines rate relief initiatives (shown in Other Government Grant Line).

Investment Income includes £10m located in higher interest vehicles (circa 4% compared to 0.6% currently achieved) from 16-17 and reflects interest rate forecasts as per CAPITA.

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances as 

at the end of the Financial Year (i.e. 31 March)                                       

P
age 98



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT PROJECTIONS

Gravesham Council TREASURY FUNCTION SWITCHED OFF

Year 2017.18 2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27

£ Thousands 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

INCOME:

Rental Income 26,050 25,757 25,599 26,356 26,947 27,431 27,924 28,425 28,934 29,451

Void Losses -325 -322 -320 -329 -337 -343 -349 -355 -361 -368

Service Charges 1,610 1,669 1,729 1,785 1,844 1,904 1,967 2,032 2,099 2,169

Non-Dwelling Income 257 267 277 285 295 305 315 325 336 347

Grants & Other Income 581 400 405 410 414 419 424 429 435 440

Total Income 28,172 27,772 27,691 28,507 29,163 29,717 30,281 30,856 31,442 32,039

EXPENDITURE:

General Management -5,282 -5,478 -5,675 -5,857 -6,050 -6,249 -6,456 -6,669 -6,889 -7,116

Special Management -760 -788 -816 -842 -870 -899 -929 -959 -991 -1,024

Other Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rent Rebates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bad Debt Provision -220 -218 -217 -223 -228 -232 -236 -240 -245 -249

Responsive & Cyclical Repairs -8,002 -8,298 -8,596 -8,871 -9,164 -9,467 -9,779 -10,102 -10,435 -10,779

Total Revenue Expenditure -14,264 -14,781 -15,304 -15,793 -16,312 -16,847 -17,399 -17,970 -18,559 -19,168

Interest Paid -2,604 -2,492 -2,447 -2,492 -2,533 -2,570 -2,630 -2,663 -2,639 -2,596

Finance Administration -48 -50 -52 -53 -55 -57 -59 -61 -63 -65

Interest Received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation -6,619 -6,631 -6,689 -6,745 -6,745 -6,750 -6,755 -6,760 -6,765 -6,770

Net Operating Income 4,637 3,818 3,198 3,423 3,518 3,493 3,439 3,403 3,415 3,440

APPROPRIATIONS:

FRS 17 /Other HRA Reserve Adj 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Provision (HRACFR) -3,504 -3,266 0 0 0 0 0 -192 -1,409 -1,621

Revenue Contribution to Capital -38 -6,252 -3,199 -3,424 -3,532 -3,493 -3,439 -3,211 -2,006 -1,819

Total Appropriations -3,542 -9,518 -3,199 -3,424 -3,532 -3,493 -3,439 -3,403 -3,415 -3,440

ANNUAL CASHFLOW 1,095 -5,701 -1 0 -14 0 0 1 0 0

Opening Balance 7,621 8,716 3,015 3,014 3,014 3,000 3,000 2,999 3,000 3,000

Closing Balance 8,716 3,015 3,014 3,014 3,000 3,000 2,999 3,000 3,000 3,000

Other HRA Reserve Balance 962 962 662 362 62 62 62 62 62 62

HRA Debt Repayment Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Appendix 3

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 832 13/04/17 13/10/17 Lloyds Bank plc Maturity 0.5500% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 833 18/04/17 18/10/17 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe 
Ltd

Maturity 0.3900% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 834 03/05/17 03/11/17 Lloyds Bank plc Maturity 0.5500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 835 06/06/17 06/12/17 Barclays Bank plc Maturity 0.3200% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 836 15/06/17 15/12/17 Goldman Sachs International Maturity 0.6550% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 837 15/06/17 15/12/17 Barclays Bank plc Maturity 0.3100% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 838 19/06/17 19/03/18 UBS AG Maturity 0.3900% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 839 12/07/17 12/01/18 Barclays Bank plc Maturity 0.3400% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 840 17/07/17 17/01/18 Barclays Bank plc Maturity 0.3300% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 841 19/07/17 19/01/18 Goldman Sachs International Maturity 0.5550% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 842 21/07/17 23/04/18 Cooperative Rabobank U.A Maturity 0.3800% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 843 01/08/17 21/06/18 UBS AG Maturity 0.5200% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 844 15/08/17 15/02/18 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe 
Ltd

Maturity 0.3400% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 845 08/09/17 28/08/18 UBS AG Maturity 0.4700% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 846 22/09/17 22/03/18 Standard Chartered Bank Maturity 0.4000% -2,000,000.00

Fixed Total 0.4584% -28,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.2044% -1,370,000.00

MMF Total 0.2044% -1,370,000.00

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,553,522.00

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -1,869,466.79

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -495,006.00

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -5,082,884.10

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -10,000,878.89

Deposit Total 0.3331% -39,370,878.89

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -39,370,878.89

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA)

As At: 30/09/2017

Page 1 of 1Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 11/10/17 09:40

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 15 November 2017

Reporting officer: Darren Wells, Grant Thornton UK LLP

Subject: The Annual Audit Letter for Gravesham Borough Council - 
year ended 31 March 2017

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with a summary of the key findings arising from the work carried out by
Grant Thornton LLP at Gravesham Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 2017, as 
set out in the 2016/17 Audit Fee Letter.

Recommendations:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee is invited to note the findings and conclusions of 

the audit work undertaken during 2016/17. 

1. Background

1.1 Grant Thornton LLP, as the council’s auditor, is required to summarise the overall 
findings of the external audit work completed during the financial year to officers, 
members and the public. The Annual Audit Letter attached at appendix two to this 
report provides information on the following areas of work that have been 
completed for the year ended 31 March 2017:

 auditing the 2016/17 financial statements

 assessing the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources (Value for Money Conclusion)

 Certification of the Housing Benefit grant claim

2. Contacts

2.1 Grant Thornton UK LLP are the author of the report. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report. 

Page 103 Agenda Item 9



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

   

Legal N/A

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

N/A

Risk 
Assessment

N/A

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

N/A

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 104



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017

.
The Annual Audit Letter

for Gravesham Borough Council

Year ended 31 March 2017

Darren Wells

Engagement Lead

T +44 (1293) 554120 

E Darren.j.wells@uk.gt.com

Chris Long

Manager

T +44 (20 7728 3295) 

E chris.long@uk.gt.com

October 2017

P
age 105



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 3

2. Audit of the accounts 4

3. Value for Money conclusion 8

Appendices

A Reports issued and fees

P
age 106



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017 3

Executive summary

Purpose of this letter

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 

work we have carried out at Gravesham Borough Council (the Council) for the 
year ended 31 March 2017.

This Letter provides a commentary on the results of our work to the Council and 

its external stakeholders and highlights issues we wish to draw to the attention of 
the public.  In preparing this letter, we have followed the National Audit Office 

(NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and  Auditor Guidance Note (AGN) 
07 – 'Auditor Reporting'.

We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the Council’s Finance & 

Audit Committee (as those charged with governance) in our Audit Findings 
Report on 12 September 2017.

Our responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit 
Practice, which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 (the Act). Our key responsibilities are to:
• give an opinion on the Council’s financial statements (section two);

• assess the Council's  arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 

three).

In our audit of the Council's financial statements we comply with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the 

NAO.

Our work

Financial statements opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 18 
September 2017.

Value for money conclusion

We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources during the year ended 

31 March 2017. We reflected this in our audit opinion on 18 September 2017.

Certificate
We certified we had completed the audit of the accounts of Gravesham Borough 

Council in accordance with the requirements of the Code on 18 September 2017.

Certification of grants
We also carry out work to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on 

behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. Our work on the 2016/17 claim 
is not yet complete and will be finalised by 30 November 2017. We will report the 

results of this work to the Finance & Audit Committee in our 2016/17 
Certification Letter.

Working with the Council 

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
October 2017

P
age 107



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017 4

Audit of  the accounts

Our audit approach

Materiality

In our audit of the Council’s accounts we applied the concept of materiality to 
determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and to evaluate the results of 

our work. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 
statements that could influence the economic decisions of a reasonably 

knowledgeable person. 

We determined materiality for our audit of the Council's accounts to be 
£1,713,000, which is 2% of the Council's gross revenue expenditure. We used this 

benchmark as in our view users of the Council's accounts are most interested in 
how it has spent the income raised from taxation and grants during the year. We 

also set a lower level of specific materiality for Cash of £500k. 

We set a lower threshold of £86,000 above which we reported errors to the 
Finance & Audit Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involves obtaining enough evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements to give reasonable assurance they are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing whether: 
• the Council's accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed; 
• significant accounting estimates made by the Director (Corporate Services) are 

reasonable;
• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view.

We also read the narrative report and annual governance statement to check they 

are consistent with our understanding of the Council and with the accounts 
included in the Statement of Accounts on which we give our opinion.

We carry out our audit in line with ISAs (UK and Ireland) and the NAO Code 

of Audit Practice. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's 

business and is risk based. 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response 
to these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 108



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017 5

Audit of  the accounts 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of pension fund net liability

The Council's pension fund net liability 

represents a signif icant estimate in the 

f inancial statements.

We performed w ork to address the risk that 

the Council's pension fund assets and 

liabilities w ere incorrectly valued. 

As part of our audit w ork w e;

• gained an understanding of processes and key controls; 

• performed a "w alkthrough" of the key controls to assess if these w ere designed 

effectively;

• review ed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the specialist actuary 

performing the pension fund valuation;

• review ed the basis for the valuation and assessed the reasonableness of the 

actuarial assumptions made; 

• review ed the consistency of disclosures in the f inancial statements w ith the 

actuarial report.

We did not identify any issues to 

report.  

Valuation of property, plant and 

equipment

For all Councils the valuation of Property 

Plant and Equipment (PPE) assets 

represents a signif icant estimate in the 

f inancial statements. 

We designed our w ork to address the risk 

that PPE revaluation measurements w ere 

not correct.

As part of our audit w ork w e;

• gained an understanding of system controls and performed a "w alkthrough" of the 

key controls to assess if these w ere designed effectively;

• review ed management's processes and assumptions for estimating asset values, 

including review  of the w ork performed for the Council by external valuers;

• assessed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the valuer, and review ed the 

information used by the valuer to ensure it w as robust and consistent w ith our 

understanding;

• performed testing to ensure information on revaluations w as correctly input to the 

Council's asset register;

• review ed management’s process to ensure that the value included in the f inancial 

statements for those assets w hich w ere not revalued in 2016/17 w as not materially 

misstated;

• review ed the disclosures in the f inancial statements to ensure these w ere in 

accordance w ith the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice and IFRS 13.

We agreed an adjustment to 

increase the Net Book Value of 

PPE assets at 31.3.17 by 

£416,000. 

We also agreed a prior period 

adjustment to; 

• reduce the Net Book Value 

of PPE at 31.3.16 by 

£2,224,000;

• increase the value of 

intangible assets by £74,000.

We did not identify any other 

issues to report. 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

P
age 109



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017 6

Audit of  the accounts 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Financial statements

In 2016/17 all Councils w ere required to make 

changes to the w ay income and expenditure is 

classif ied and reported in the accounts.

These changes also required a restatement of the 

previous year f igures.

We designed our w ork to address the risk that 

these changes had not been implemented 

correctly. 

As part of our audit w ork w e;

• review ed the Council’s process for making the required changes;

• review ed the basis of the classif ication on the Council’s Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) to ensure this w as consistent 

w ith the Council’s internal reporting structure

• tested the classif ication of income and expenditure recorded w ithin the 

Cost of Services section of the CIES;

• tested the completeness  of income and expenditure by review ing the 

reconciliation of the CIES to the general ledger;

• tested the classif ication of income and expenditure reported w ithin the new  

Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) note to the f inancial statements.

We agreed that additional 

narrative w ould be added to the 

f inancial statements to describe 

the prior period adjustment.

We did not identify any other 

issues to report. 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

P
age 110



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017 7

Audit of  the accounts

Audit opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council’s accounts on 18 September 2017, 

in advance of the 30 September 2017 national deadline.

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts
We reported the key issues from our audit of the accounts to the Council's 

Finance & Audit Committee on 12 September 2017. 

The Council's draft accounts were approved for issue ahead of the national 
deadline of 30 June 2017.  Only a small number of amendments to the accounts 

were required ahead of giving our opinion.  The working papers supporting the 
accounts were of a high standard.

From 2017/18 the statutory deadlines for preparing accounts will be brought 

forward and the Council will be required to produce draft statements by 31 May.  
The Council has made good progress in preparing for this accelerated timetable, 

with the 2016/17 draft accounts published on 6 June 2017. 

Other financial statement responsibilities
We are required to review the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and 

Narrative Report. 

We concluded that both documents were prepared in line with the relevant 
guidance and that the information in both documents was consistent with 

supporting evidence and with our knowledge of the Council.

.

P
age 111



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017 8

Value for Money conclusion

Background

We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice 

(the Code), following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2016 which 
specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources 
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

Key findings

Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and 
identify the key risks where we concentrated our work.

We performed an initial risk assessment in March 2017 which did not identify any 

significant risks.  We continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of 
giving our report, in particular considering issues relating to the Council’s financial 

position and medium term financial resilience. 

In common with other local authorities the Council continues to face significant 
financial pressures, and uncertainty around future funding arrangements. We noted 

that the Council;

• reported a revenue underspend of £737k for 2016/17;
• has agreed a balanced budget for 2017/18, and currently anticipates it will 

produce a balanced budget for 2018/19;
• has a history of delivering planned savings, and has made substantial progress in 

implementing savings plans and the re-design of services arising out of the 
major service reviews completed in 2016; 

• continues to have a robust medium term financial planning framework which is 
aligned to the annual budget-setting process.

From our review up to the date of giving our report we did not identify any 
significant risks where we would need to perform further work.

Overall VfM conclusion

We are satisfied that in all significant respects the Council put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources for the year ending 31 March 2017.

P
age 112



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017 9

Appendix A: Reports issued and fees

Fees

Proposed 

fee

£

Actual fees 

£

2015/16 fees 

£

Statutory audit of the Council 53,294 61,294* 53,294

Housing Benefit Grant Certif ication 14,526 TBC 14,526

Total fees (excluding VAT) 67,820 TBC 67,820

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit.

Fees for other services

Service Fees £

Audit related services

• Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts Return TBC

Non-audit services None

*The proposed fee was the scale fee set by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 
(PSAA).  In our 2015/16 Audit Findings Report we reported on a number of 

historic issues relating to the Council’s fixed asset records. The Council has taken 
action to resolve these issues in 2016/17, resulting in a number of adjustments to 

the valuation of PPE assets. We agreed on an additional fee of £8000 to review 
the work performed by the Council. The variation to the fee is subject to approval 

by PSAA, which is required to approve all variations to the scale fee.

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan March 2017

Audit Findings Report September 2017

Annual Audit Letter October 2017

Certif ication Letter January 2018 (planned)

P
age 113



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gravesham Borough Council  |  October 2017

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served. 

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton 
member firms provide assurance, tax  and advisory services to their 
clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the contex t 
requires. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate 
legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does 
not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for 
one another's acts or omissions. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 114


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Audit & Counter Fraud Update - Q2 2017-18
	GBC A&CF Update - 1 Aug 2017 to 30 Sep 2017

	6 Treasury Management 2017-18 - Mid-Year Review
	Appendix 2 - Deposit Dashboard Internal Investments
	Appendix 3 - Investment Balances as at 30-09-17
	Appendix 4 - Cashflow as at October 2017
	Appendix 5 - Cashflow as at October 2017 compared to August 2017

	7 Corporate Risk Register 2017-18 - Mid-Year Review
	Appendix 2

	8 Quarter Two Budget Monitoring Report 2017-18 - to end September 2017
	Appendix 2. MTFP - V5a - 2017-18 BMR Q2
	Appendix 3. HRA Business Plan Q2 2017-18
	Appendix 4 - Investments as at 30-9-17

	9 Annual Audit Letter 2017-18
	Gravesham BC Annual Audit Letter


